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CAUTIONARY NOTE REGARDING FORWARD-LOOKING STATEMENTS
This Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q contains “forward-looking statements” within the meaning of the
Private Securities Litigation Reform Act of 1995, Section 27A of the Securities Act of 1933, as amended (the
“Securities Act”) and Section 21E of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended (the “Exchange Act”). You
can generally identify forward-looking statements by our use of forward-looking terminology such as
“anticipate,” “believe,” “continue,” “could,” “estimate,” “expect,” “intend,” “may,” “might,” “plan,”
“potential,” “predict,” “seek,” or “should,” or the negative thereof or other variations thereon or comparable
terminology. In particular, statements about the growth of our various markets, and statements about our
expectations, beliefs, plans, strategies, objectives, prospects, assumptions or future events or performance
contained in this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q are forward-looking statements.
We have based these forward-looking statements on our current expectations, assumptions, estimates and
projections. While we believe these expectations, assumptions, estimates and projections are reasonable, such
forward-looking statements are only predictions and involve known and unknown risks and uncertainties, many of
which are beyond our control. These and other important factors, including those discussed under the heading
“Risk Factors” in Part 1, Item 1A of our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended April 30, 2018, filed
with the U.S. Securities and Exchange Commission (the “SEC”), may cause our actual results, performance or
achievements to differ materially from any future results, performance or achievements expressed or implied by
these forward-looking statements. Some of the factors that could cause actual results to differ materially from those
expressed or implied by the forward-looking statements include:
·

general economic and financial conditions;

·

our dependency upon the commercial and residential construction and residential repair and
remodeling, or R&R, markets;

·

competition in our highly fragmented industry and the markets in which we operate;

·

the fluctuations in prices of the products we distribute;

·

the consolidation of our industry;

·

our ability to successfully implement our strategic initiatives, including our growth strategy and cost
reduction initiative;

·

our inability to pursue strategic transactions and open new branches;

·

our inability to expand into new geographic markets;

·

our ability to successfully identify acquisition candidates, complete and integrate acquisitions and
achieve synergies;

·

product shortages and potential loss of relationships with key suppliers;

·

the seasonality of the commercial and residential construction markets;

·

the potential loss of any significant customers;

·

exposure to product liability and various other claims and litigation;

·

our inability to attract and retain key employees;

·

rising health care costs and labor costs, including the impact of labor and trucking shortages;
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·

the reduction of the quantity of products our customers purchase;

·

the credit risk from our customers;

·

our inability to renew leases for our facilities;

·

our inability to effectively manage our inventory as our sales volume increases or the prices of the
products we distribute fluctuate;

·

an impairment of our goodwill or intangible assets;

·

the impact of federal, state, provincial and local regulations;

·

the cost of compliance with environmental, health and safety laws and other regulations;

·

significant increases in fuel costs or shortages in the supply of fuel;

·

a disruption or cybersecurity breach in our IT systems;

·

natural or man-made disruptions to our facilities;

·

our exposure to greater than anticipated tax liabilities;

·

the risk of our foreign operations, including currency rate fluctuations;

·

the imposition of tariffs and other trade barriers, and the effect of retaliatory trade measures;

·

our inability to engage in activities that may be in our best long-term interests because of restrictions
in our debt agreements;

·

our current level of indebtedness and our potential to incur additional indebtedness;

·

our inability to obtain additional financing on acceptable terms, if at all;

·

our holding company structure;

·

the influence of AEA Investors LP and certain affiliates thereof on us; and

·

future sales of our common stock.

Given these risks and uncertainties, you are cautioned not to place undue reliance on such
forward-looking statements. The forward-looking statements contained in this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q are
not guarantees of future performance and actual results and events may differ materially from the forward-looking
statements contained in this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q.
Any forward-looking statement that we make in this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q speaks only as of the
date of such statement. Except as required by law, we do not undertake any obligation to update or revise, or to
publicly announce any update or revision to, any of the forward-looking statements, whether as a result of new
information, future events or otherwise, after the date of this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q. You should, however,
review the factors and risks we describe in the reports we will file from time to time with the SEC after the date of
the filing of this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q.
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PART I – Financial Information
Item 1. Financial Statements
GMS Inc.
Condensed Consolidated Balance Sheets (Unaudited)
(in thousands, except per share data)
January 31,
2019

Assets
Current assets:
Cash and cash equivalents
Trade accounts and notes receivable, net of allowances of $7,963 and $9,633,
respectively
Inventories, net
Prepaid expenses and other current assets
Total current assets
Property and equipment, net of accumulated depreciation of $113,898 and $85,761,
respectively
Goodwill
Intangible assets, net
Deferred income taxes
Other assets
Total assets
Liabilities and Stockholders’ Equity
Current liabilities:
Accounts payable
Accrued compensation and employee benefits
Other accrued expenses and current liabilities
Current portion of long-term debt
Total current liabilities
Non-current liabilities:
Long-term debt, less current portion
Deferred income taxes, net
Other liabilities
Liabilities to noncontrolling interest holders, less current portion
Total liabilities
Commitments and contingencies
Stockholders' equity:
Common stock, par value $0.01 per share, 500,000 shares authorized; 40,561 and
41,069 shares issued and outstanding as of January 31, 2019 and April 30, 2018,
respectively
Preferred stock, par value $0.01 per share, 50,000 shares authorized; 0 shares issued
and outstanding as of January 31, 2019 and April 30, 2018
Exchangeable shares
Additional paid-in capital
Retained earnings
Accumulated other comprehensive income (loss)
Total stockholders' equity
Total liabilities and stockholders' equity

$

74,347

April 30,
2018

$

36,437

410,017
308,115
12,610
805,089

346,450
239,223
11,726
633,836

280,225
619,554
452,811
5,219
14,250
$ 2,177,148

163,582
427,645
222,682
—
6,766
$ 1,454,511

$

$

129,580
52,454
60,488
40,328
282,850

116,168
56,323
45,146
16,284
233,921

1,193,522
9,743
46,148
11,125
1,543,388

579,602
10,742
35,088
15,707
875,060

406

411

—
—
29,639
—
482,635
489,007
128,969
89,592
(7,889)
441
633,760
579,451
$ 2,177,148 $ 1,454,511

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these condensed consolidated financial statements.
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GMS Inc.
Condensed Consolidated Statements of Operations and Comprehensive Income (Unaudited)
(in thousands, except per share data)
Three Months Ended
January 31,
2019
2018

Net sales
Cost of sales (exclusive of depreciation and amortization
shown separately below)
Gross profit
Operating expenses:
Selling, general and administrative
Depreciation and amortization
Total operating expenses
Operating income
Other (expense) income:
Interest expense
Change in fair value of financial instruments
Write-off of debt discount and deferred financing fees
Other income, net
Total other expense, net
Income before taxes
Provision (benefit) for income taxes
Net income
Weighted average common shares outstanding:
Basic
Diluted
Net income per common share:
Basic
Diluted
Comprehensive income
Net income
Foreign currency translation loss
Changes in other comprehensive income, net of tax
Comprehensive income

Nine Months Ended
January 31,
2019
2018

$ 723,902

$ 585,508

$ 2,335,883

$ 1,875,669

489,676
234,226

390,088
195,420

1,588,691
747,192

1,262,885
612,784

178,180
30,220
208,400
25,826

156,262
16,490
172,752
22,668

548,883
87,329
636,212
110,980

472,232
49,548
521,780
91,004

(7,871)
(276)
—
677
(7,470)
15,198
(4,488)
19,686 $

(54,896)
(6,395)
—
2,025
(59,266)
51,714
12,337
39,377

(23,288)
(710)
(74)
1,675
(22,397)
68,607
15,555
53,052

41,036
42,228

41,053
41,789

(19,526)
—
—
957
(18,569)
7,257
1,442
$ 5,815 $
40,912
41,371
$
$
$

$

0.14
0.14

$

41,004
42,167

$
$

0.48
0.47

$
$

0.94
0.92

$
$

1.29
1.26

5,815 $
(128)
—
5,687 $

19,686
—
401
20,087

$

39,377
(8,821)
491
31,047

$

53,052
—
797
53,849

$

$

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these condensed consolidated financial statements.
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GMS Inc.
Condensed Consolidated Statements of Stockholders’ Equity (Unaudited)
(in thousands)

Balances as of
April 30, 2018
Net income
Issuance of Exchangeable
Shares
Repurchase and retirement
of common stock
Foreign currency translation
adjustments
Change in other
comprehensive income
(loss), net of tax
Equity-based compensation
Tax withholding related to
net share settlements of
equity awards
Exercise of stock options
Vesting of restricted stock
units
Issuance of common stock
pursuant to employee stock
purchase plan
Balances as of
January 31, 2019

Balances as of
April 30, 2017
Net income
Change in other
comprehensive loss, net of
tax
Equity-based compensation
Tax withholding related to
net share settlements of
stock options
Exercise of stock options
Balances as of
January 31, 2018

Common Stock Exchangeable
Shares Amount
Shares

Additional
Paid-in
Capital

41,069

$

Retained
Earnings

Accumulated
Other
Comprehensive
Income (Loss)

Total
Stockholders'
Equity

$

$

411 $

—

$ 489,007

$ 89,592

—

—

—

—

39,377

—

39,377

—

—

29,639

—

—

—

29,639

—

—

(11,514)

(691)

579,451

(7)

—

—

—

—

—

—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
2,502

—
—

491
—

—
103

—
1

—
—

(51)
1,280

—
—

—
—
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—

—

—

—

—

—

75

1

—

1,404

—

—

1,405

29,639

$ 482,635

$ 128,969

$

Common Stock Exchangeable
Shares Amount
Shares

Additional
Paid-in
Capital

Retained
Earnings

Accumulated
Other
Comprehensive
Loss

Total
Stockholders'
Equity

40,971

$

$

40,561

$

(8,821)

(7,889)

491
2,502

(51)
1,281

$

633,760

410 $

—

$ 488,459

$ 26,621

—

—

—

53,052

—

53,052

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
1,141

—
—

797
—

797
1,141

—
70

—
—

—
—

(1,441)
130

—
—

—
—

410 $

—

$

$ 488,289

$ 79,673

$

(884)

(8,821)

—

41,041

$

406 $

(11,507)

441

(87)

(1,441)
130
$

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these condensed consolidated financial statements.
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GMS Inc.
Condensed Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows (Unaudited)
(in thousands)
Nine Months Ended
January 31,
2019
2018

Cash flows from operating activities:
Net income
Adjustments to reconcile net income to net cash provided by operating activities:
Depreciation and amortization
Write-off and amortization of debt discount and debt issuance costs
Provision for losses on accounts and notes receivable
Provision for obsolescence of inventory
Effects of fair value adjustments to inventory
Increase in fair value of contingent consideration
Equity-based compensation
Gain on sale and disposal of assets
Change in fair value of financial instruments
Changes in assets and liabilities net of effects of acquisitions:
Trade accounts and notes receivable
Inventories
Prepaid expenses and other assets
Accounts payable
Accrued compensation and employee benefits
Derivative liability
Other accrued expenses and liabilities
Deferred income taxes
Cash provided by operating activities
Cash flows from investing activities:
Purchases of property and equipment
Proceeds from sale of assets
Acquisition of businesses, net of cash acquired
Cash used in investing activities
Cash flows from financing activities:
Repayments on the revolving credit facility
Borrowings from the revolving credit facility
Payments of principal on long-term debt
Payments of principal on capital lease obligations
Borrowings from term loan
Repayments of term loan
Repurchases of common stock
Debt issuance costs
Proceeds from exercises of stock options
Other financing activities
Cash provided by (used in) financing activities
Effect of exchange rates on cash and cash equivalents
Increase in cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents, beginning of period
Cash and cash equivalents, end of period
Supplemental cash flow disclosures:
Cash paid for income taxes
Cash paid for interest
Supplemental schedule of noncash activities:
Assets acquired under capital lease
Issuance of installment notes associated with equity-based compensation liability awards

$

$

39,377

$

53,052

87,329
2,505
240
416
4,129
535
4,706
(412)
6,395

49,548
2,141
133
113
276
195
4,375
(648)
710

23,243
(11,576)
(968)
(17,856)
(3,824)
(10,778)
446
(18,470)
105,437

14,545
(23,893)
(8,756)
(5,723)
(7,140)
—
312
(12,860)
66,380

(13,385)
910
(579,731)
(592,206)

(13,408)
2,374
(23,568)
(34,602)

(748,999)
886,896
(7,476)
(13,923)
996,840
(571,840)
(11,514)
(7,933)
1,280
1,355
524,686
(7)
37,910
36,437
74,347

(597,092)
493,739
(4,332)
(4,530)
577,616
(477,616)
—
(3,283)
130
(2,032)
(17,400)
—
14,378
14,561
28,939

$

$

16,121
45,724

$

35,005
21,192

$

102,053
5,356

$

7,953
11,898

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these condensed consolidated financial statements.

8

Table of Contents
GMS Inc.
Notes to Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements (Unaudited)
1. Business, Basis of Presentation and Summary of Significant Accounting Policies
Business
Founded in 1971, GMS Inc. (“we,” “our,” “us,” or the “Company”), through its wholly-owned operating
subsidiaries, is a distributor of specialty building products including wallboard, suspended ceilings systems, or
ceilings, steel framing and other complementary specialty building products. We purchase products from a large
number of manufacturers and then distribute these goods to a customer base consisting of wallboard and ceilings
contractors and homebuilders and, to a lesser extent, general contractors and individuals. We operate a network of
more than 245 distribution centers across the United States and Canada.
Basis of Presentation
The condensed consolidated financial statements included in this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q have been
prepared pursuant to the rules and regulations of the Securities and Exchange Commission (“SEC”) that permit
reduced disclosure for interim periods. In the opinion of management, the accompanying unaudited condensed
consolidated financial statements contain all normal and recurring adjustments necessary for a fair presentation of
the results of operations, financial position and cash flows. All adjustments are of a normal recurring nature unless
otherwise disclosed. The results of operations for interim periods are not necessarily indicative of results for any
other interim period or the entire fiscal year. As a result, the unaudited condensed consolidated financial statements
should be read in conjunction with our audited consolidated financial statements included in our Annual Report on
Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended April 30, 2018.
Principles of Consolidation
The condensed consolidated financial statements present the results of operations, financial position and
cash flows of the Company and its subsidiaries. All material intercompany balances and transactions have been
eliminated in consolidation. The results of operations of businesses acquired are included from their respective dates
of acquisition.
Use of Estimates
The preparation of financial statements in conformity with Generally Accepted Accounting Principles
(“GAAP”) requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and
liabilities and disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities as of the date of the financial statements and the reported
amounts of revenues and expenses during the reporting period. Actual results could differ from those estimates.
Foreign Currency Translation
Assets and liabilities of the Company’s Canadian subsidiaries are translated at the exchange rate prevailing
at the balance sheet date, while income and expenses are translated at average rates for the period. Translation gains
and losses are reported as a separate component of stockholders’ equity and other comprehensive income. Gains and
losses on foreign currency transactions are recognized in the Condensed Consolidated Statements of Operations and
Comprehensive Income within other income, net.
Insurance Liabilities
The Company is self-insured for certain losses related to medical claims. The Company has stop-loss
coverage to limit the exposure arising from medical claims. The Company has deductible-based insurance policies for
certain losses related to general liability, automobile and workers’ compensation. The deductible amount per incident
is $0.3 million, $0.5 million and $1.0 million for general liability, workers’ compensation and automobile, respectively.
The coverage consists of a primary layer and an excess layer. The primary layer of coverage is from $0.5 million to
$2.0 million and the excess layer cover claims from $2.0 million to $100.0 million. The expected ultimate cost for claims
incurred as of the balance sheet date is not discounted and is recognized as a liability. Insurance losses for claims
filed
9
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GMS Inc.
Notes to Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements (Unaudited) (Continued)
and claims incurred but not reported are accrued based upon estimates of the aggregate liability for uninsured claims
using loss development factors, actuarial assumptions and historical loss development experience.
As of January 31, 2019 and April 30, 2018, the aggregate liabilities for medical self-insurance were $3.7 million
and $4.1 million, respectively, and are included in other accrued expenses and current liabilities in the Condensed
Consolidated Balance Sheets. As of January 31, 2019 and April 30, 2018, reserves for general liability, automobile and
workers’ compensation totaled approximately $14.2 million and $14.7 million, respectively, and are included in other
accrued expenses and current liabilities and other liabilities in the Condensed Consolidated Balance Sheets. As of
January 31, 2019 and April 30, 2018, expected recoveries for medical self-insurance, general liability, automobile and
workers’ compensation totaled approximately $4.2 million and $4.8 million, respectively, and are included in prepaid
expenses and other current assets and other assets in the Condensed Consolidated Balance Sheets.
Restructuring
The Company recognizes a liability for costs associated with an exit or disposal activity when the liability is
incurred. After the appropriate level of management approves the detailed restructuring plan and the appropriate
criteria for recognition are met, the Company establishes accruals for employee termination and other costs, as
applicable. During the nine months ended January 31, 2019, the Company initiated a reduction in workforce as part of
a strategic cost reduction plan to improve operational efficiency. The Company recorded $5.2 million of restructuring
costs during the nine months ended January 31, 2019 in connection with the reduction in workforce and certain other
restructuring activities, consisting primarily of severance and other employee costs. Such costs are classified within
selling, general and administrative expenses in the Condensed Consolidated Statements of Operations and
Comprehensive Income. The Company made payments of $4.6 million during the nine months ended January 31, 2019.
As of January 31, 2019, the Company had a remaining liability of $0.6 million, which was classified within other
accrued expenses and current liabilities in the Condensed Consolidated Balance Sheet.
Income Taxes
The Company considers each interim period an integral part of the annual period and measures tax expense
(benefit) using an estimated annual effective income tax rate. Estimates of the annual effective income tax rate at the
end of interim periods are, out of necessity, based on evaluation of possible future events and transactions and may
be subject to subsequent refinement or revision. The Company forecasts its estimated annual effective income tax
rate and then applies that rate to its year-to-date pre-tax ordinary income (loss), subject to certain loss limitation
provisions. In addition, certain specific transactions are excluded from the Company’s estimated annual effective tax
rate computation, but are discretely recognized within income tax expense (benefit) in their respective interim period.
Future changes in the forecasted annual income (loss) projections, tax rate changes, or discrete tax items could result
in significant adjustments to quarterly income tax expense (benefit) in future periods.
The Company evaluates its deferred tax assets quarterly to determine if valuation allowances are required. In
this evaluation, the Company considers both positive and negative evidence in determining whether it is more likely
than not that some portion or all of the deferred tax assets will not be realized. The primary negative evidence
considered includes the cumulative operating losses generated in prior periods. The primary positive evidence
considered includes the reversal of deferred tax liabilities primarily related to depreciation and amortization that would
occur within the same jurisdiction and during the carryforward period necessary to absorb the federal and state net
operating losses and other deferred tax assets.
Deferred tax assets and liabilities are computed by applying the federal and state income tax rates in effect to
the gross amounts of temporary differences and other tax attributes, such as net operating loss carry-forwards. In
assessing if the deferred tax assets will be realized, the Company considers whether it is more likely than not that
some or all of these deferred tax assets will be realized. The ultimate realization of deferred tax assets is dependent
upon the generation of future taxable income during the period in which these deductible temporary differences
reverse.
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GMS Inc.
Notes to Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements (Unaudited) (Continued)
Fair Value of Financial Instruments
Fair value is defined as the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an
orderly transaction between market participants at the measurement date. Authoritative guidance for fair value
measurements establishes a three-level hierarchy that prioritizes the inputs to valuation models based upon the
degree to which they are observable. The three levels of the fair value measurement hierarchy are as follows:
Level 1
Level 2
Level 3

Inputs are quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets or liabilities that the reporting
entity can access at the measurement date.
Inputs are inputs other than quoted prices included within Level 1 that are observable for the asset or
liability, either directly or indirectly.
Inputs are unobservable inputs for which little or no market data exists, therefore requiring an entity to
develop its own assumptions.

The carrying values of the Company’s cash, cash equivalents, trade receivables and trade payables
approximate their fair values because of their short-term nature. Based on borrowing rates available to the Company
for loans with similar terms, the carrying values of the Company’s debt instruments approximate fair value. See
Note 10, “Fair Value Measurements,” for additional information with respect to the Company’s fair value
measurements.
Earnings Per Share
Basic earnings per share is computed by dividing net income available to common stockholders by the
weighted average number of outstanding shares of common stock for the period. Diluted earnings per share reflects
the potential dilution that could occur if securities or other contracts to issue common stock, including stock options
and restricted stock units (collectively “Common Stock Equivalents”), were exercised or converted into common
stock. The dilutive effect of outstanding stock options and restricted stock units is reflected in diluted earnings per
share by application of the treasury stock method. In applying the treasury stock method for stock-based
compensation arrangements, the assumed proceeds are computed as the sum of the amount the employee must pay
upon exercise and the amount of compensation cost attributed to future services and not yet recognized. Diluted
earnings per share is computed by increasing the weighted-average number of outstanding shares of common stock
computed in basic earnings per share to include the dilutive effect of Common Stock Equivalents for the period. In
periods of net loss, the number of shares used to calculate diluted loss per share is the same as basic net loss per
share.
The holders of the Company’s Exchangeable Shares (as defined in Note 3, “Business Acquisitions” and
further described in Note 7, “Stockholders’ Equity”) are entitled to receive dividends or distributions that are equal to
any dividends or distributions on the Company’s common stock. As a result, the Exchangeable Shares are classified
as a participating security and thereby require the allocation of income that would have otherwise been available to
common stockholders when calculating earnings per share. Diluted earnings per share is calculated by utilizing the
most dilutive result of the if-converted and two-class methods. In both methods, net income attributable to common
stockholders and the weighted-average common shares outstanding are adjusted to account for the impact of the
assumed issuance of potential common shares that are dilutive, subject to dilution sequencing rules.
Recently Adopted Accounting Pronouncements
Revenue recognition—In May 2014, the Financial Accounting Standards Board (the “FASB”) issued
authoritative guidance on revenue from contracts with customers. The new guidance supersedes most existing
revenue recognition guidance and outlines a single comprehensive model for entities to use in accounting for
revenue arising from contracts with customers. The core principle of the revenue model is that an entity recognizes
revenue to depict the transfer of promised goods or services to customers in an amount that reflects the
consideration to which the entity expects to be entitled in exchange for those goods or services. The new standard
also requires disclosure of the nature, amount, timing, and uncertainty of revenue and cash flows arising from
contracts with customers. In August 2015, the FASB issued guidance that deferred the effective date by one year.
The standard is required to be adopted by public
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Notes to Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements (Unaudited) (Continued)
business entities in annual periods beginning on or after December 15, 2017, and interim periods within those annual
periods, and may be applied on a full retrospective or modified retrospective approach. Early adoption at the original
effective date is permitted.
The Company adopted this guidance on May 1, 2018 (the first day of fiscal 2019) using the modified
retrospective approach. The adoption of the new guidance, using the modified retrospective approach, did not have
a material impact on the Company’s financial statements. The adoption of the new guidance resulted in a $3.6 million
reclassification in the Condensed Consolidated Balance Sheet from trade accounts and notes receivable to other
accrued expenses and current liabilities for estimated sales returns. The adoption of the new revenue guidance also
resulted in additional disclosures regarding the Company’s revenue recognition. The additional disclosures required
by this new standard are contained in Note 2, “Revenue.”
Statement of Cash Flows – In August 2016, the FASB issued new guidance to reduce diversity in practice
related to certain cash receipts and payment in the statement of cash flows by adding or clarifying guidance on eight
specific cash flow issues. The new guidance is effective for fiscal years, and interim periods within those fiscal years,
beginning after December 15, 2017. The Company adopted this guidance on May 1, 2018. As a result of the adoption,
the Company now classifies cash payments for debt prepayment or debt extinguishment costs, including third-party
costs and other fees paid to lenders that are directly related to the debt prepayment or debt extinguishment, as cash
outflows for financing activities. This resulted in a $2.7 million reclass from cash (used in) provided by operating
activities (specifically the line item changes in other accrued expenses and current liabilities) to cash provided by
financing activities (specifically the line item debt issuance costs) in the Condensed Consolidated Statement of Cash
Flows for the nine months ended January 31, 2019. The adoption did not have any other material impact on the
Company’s financial statements.
Income Taxes – In October 2016, the FASB issued new guidance intended to improve the accounting for
intra-entity transfers of assets other than inventory by requiring recognition of income tax consequences when such
a transfer occurs. The new guidance is effective for annual and interim periods beginning after December 15, 2017.
Early adoption is permitted. The amendments in this update should be applied on a modified retrospective basis
through a cumulative-effect adjustment directly to retained earnings as of the beginning of the period of adoption.
The Company adopted this guidance on May 1, 2018 with no material impact on its financial statements.
Derivatives – In August 2017, the FASB issued new guidance on accounting for hedging activities, which
expands and refines hedge accounting for both non-financial and financial risk components and aligns the
recognition and presentation of the effects of the hedging instrument and the hedged item in the financial statements.
The new guidance is effective for fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2018, and interim periods within those
fiscal years. The Company adopted this guidance on November 1, 2018 with no material impact on its financial
statements.
Recently Issued Accounting Pronouncements
Leases—In February 2016, the FASB issued authoritative guidance on accounting for leases. The new
standard establishes a right-of-use (ROU) model that requires a lessee to record a ROU asset and a lease liability on
the balance sheet for all leases with terms longer than twelve months. Leases will be classified as either finance or
operating, with such classification affecting the pattern of expense recognition in the statement of operations. The
new standard is effective for the Company’s fiscal year beginning May 1, 2019 (the first day of fiscal 2020), including
interim reporting periods within that fiscal year. A modified transition approach is required for capital and operating
leases existing at, or entered into after, the beginning of the earliest comparative period presented in the financial
statements, with certain practical expedients available.
On July 30, 2018, the FASB issued new guidance that provides entities with an additional (and optional)
transition method to adopt the new lease standard. Under this new transition method, an entity initially applies the
new lease standard at the adoption date and recognizes a cumulative-effect adjustment to the opening balance of
retained earnings in the period of adoption. We have not yet determined whether we will use the newly permitted
adoption method.
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While the Company is still evaluating the impact of its pending adoption of the new standard on its financial
statements, the Company expects that the adoption will result in a material increase in the assets and liabilities
recorded on our Condensed Consolidated Balance Sheets and additional qualitative and quantitative disclosures. We
are continuing to evaluate the method of adoption and currently finalizing our accounting policies, implementing a
new leasing system, determining changes needed in current processes for lease accounting and verifying the
completeness of our lease population and, thus, we are unable to quantify the financial statement impact at this time.
Goodwill – In January 2017, the FASB issued authoritative guidance that simplifies the accounting for
goodwill impairments by eliminating Step 2 from the goodwill impairment test. Under the new guidance, goodwill
impairment will be the amount by which a reporting unit’s carrying value exceeds its fair value. The new standard is
effective for annual and any interim impairment tests for periods beginning after December 15, 2019. Early adoption is
permitted. The Company does not expect the adoption of this standard to have a material impact on its financial
statements.
Accumulated Other Comprehensive Income – In February 2018, the FASB issued authoritative guidance
which permits entities to reclassify, to retained earnings, the one-time income tax effects stranded in accumulated
other comprehensive income arising from the change in the U.S. federal corporate tax rate as a result of the Tax Cuts
and Jobs Act of 2017. An entity that elects to make this reclassification must consider all items in accumulated other
comprehensive income that have tax effects stranded as a result of the tax rate change, and must disclose the
reclassification of these tax effects as well as the entity’s policy for releasing income tax effects from accumulated
other comprehensive income. The new guidance may be applied either retrospectively or as of the beginning of the
period of adoption. The new guidance is effective for fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2018, including
interim periods within those fiscal years. Early adoption is permitted. The Company plans to adopt this guidance on
May 1, 2019 (the first day of fiscal 2020). While this guidance will have no impact on the Company’s results of
operations, the Company is currently assessing this standard’s impact on its consolidated financial position.
Cloud Computing Costs – In August 2018, the FASB issued new guidance that clarifies the accounting
treatment for implementation costs for cloud computing arrangements (hosting arrangements) that is a service
contract. This guidance is effective for fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2019, including interim periods
within that fiscal year. Early adoption is permitted. The Company is currently assessing the effect that this new
guidance will have on its financial position, results of operations and disclosures.
Fair Value Measurement Disclosures – In August 2018, the FASB issued new guidance that changes
certain fair value measurement disclosure requirements. This guidance is effective for fiscal years beginning after
December 15, 2019, including interim periods within those fiscal years. An entity is permitted to early adopt all of the
disclosure changes or early adopt only the removed disclosure requirements and delay adoption of the additional
disclosures until the effective date of this amendment. Except for changes to certain disclosures related to fair value
measurements, the Company does not expect the adoption of this standard to have a material impact on its financial
statements.

2. Revenue
Revenue Recognition
Revenue is recognized upon transfer of control of promised goods to customers at an amount that reflects
the consideration the Company expects to receive in exchange for those goods. Revenue is recognized net of any
taxes collected from customers, which are subsequently remitted to governmental authorities. The Company includes
shipping and handling costs billed to customers in net sales. These costs are recognized as a component of selling,
general and administrative expenses when the Company does not bill the customer.
See Note 13, “Segments,” for information regarding disaggregation of revenue, including revenue by
product and by geographic area.
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Performance Obligations
The Company primarily satisfies its performance obligations at a point in time, which is upon delivery of
products. The Company’s payment terms vary by the type and location of its customers. The amount of time
between point of sale and when payment is due is not significant and the Company has determined its contracts do
not include a significant financing component. Product warranties do not constitute a performance obligation for the
Company, as products are warrantied directly by the manufacturer.
Our contracts with customers involve performance obligations that are one year or less. Therefore, we
applied the standard’s optional exemption that permits the omission of information about our unfulfilled performance
obligations as of the balance sheet dates.
Significant Judgements
The Company’s contracts may include terms that could cause variability in the transaction price, including
customer rebates, returns and cash discounts for early payment. Variable consideration is estimated and included in
total consideration based on the expected value method. These estimates are based on historical experience,
anticipated performance and other factors known at the time. The Company only includes estimated amounts in the
transaction price to the extent it is probable that a significant reversal of cumulative revenue recognized will not occur
when the uncertainty associated with the variable consideration is resolved.
Contract Balances
Receivables from contracts with customers were $389.4 million and $326.6 million as of January 31, 2019 and
May 1, 2018, respectively. The Company did not have material amounts of contract assets or liabilities as of
January 31, 2019 or May 1, 2018.
3. Business Acquisitions
The Company accounts for business combinations by recognizing the assets acquired and liabilities
assumed at the acquisition date fair value. In valuing acquired assets and liabilities, fair value estimates use Level 3
inputs, including future expected cash flows and discount rates. Goodwill is measured as the excess of consideration
transferred over the fair values of the assets acquired and the liabilities assumed. While the Company uses its best
estimates and assumptions as a part of the purchase price allocation process to accurately value assets acquired and
liabilities assumed at the acquisition date, the Company’s estimates are inherently uncertain and subject to
refinement. As a result, during the measurement period, which may be up to one year from the acquisition date, the
Company records adjustments to the assets acquired and liabilities assumed, with the corresponding offset to
goodwill. Upon the conclusion of the measurement period, any subsequent adjustments arising from new facts and
circumstances are recorded to the Condensed Consolidated Statements of Operations and Comprehensive Income.
The results of operations of acquisitions are reflected in the Company’s Condensed Consolidated Financial
Statements from the date of acquisition.
Acquisition of Titan
On June 1, 2018, the Company acquired all of the outstanding equity interests of WSB Titan (“Titan”), a
distributer of wallboard, lumber, and other commercial and residential building materials. Titan is a gypsum specialty
dealer with 30 locations across five provinces in Canada. The stated purchase price was $627.0 million ($800.0 million
Canadian dollars), subject to a working capital and certain other adjustments as set forth in the securities purchase
agreement. As part of the consideration, certain members of Titan’s management converted a portion of their
ownership position into 1.1 million shares of equity that are exchangeable for the Company’s common stock
(“Exchangeable Shares”). The purpose of the transaction was to extend the Company’s leadership position in North
America with expanded scale and footprint, expand its geographic coverage into the Canadian market and create
opportunities for further expansion in Canada.
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To finance this transaction, on June 1, 2018, the Company entered into a Third Amendment to its First Lien
Credit Agreement (the “Third Amendment”) that provides for a new first lien term loan facility under the first lien
credit agreement in the aggregate principal amount of $996.8 million due in June 2025 that bears interest at a floating
rate based on LIBOR, with a 0% floor, plus 2.75%. The Company also drew down $143.0 million under its Asset
Backed Lending Facility (“ABL Facility”). The net proceeds from the new first lien term loan facility, ABL Facility and
cash on hand were used to repay the Company’s existing first lien term loan facility of $571.8 million under the Credit
Agreement and to finance its acquisition of Titan.
The fair value of consideration transferred was $611.1 million, after adjusting for foreign currency changes in
the stated purchase price and other fair value changes, which consisted of $581.5 million in cash and $29.6 million for
the fair value of the 1.1 million Exchangeable Shares. See Note 7, “Stockholders’ Equity,” for more information on the
Exchangeable Shares. The Company also assumed certain contingent consideration arrangements that relate to
previous acquisitions of Titan. The contingent consideration arrangements are based on performance of Titan’s
business and are payable in cash in fiscal 2019 and fiscal 2020.
The assets acquired and liabilities assumed of Titan were recognized at their acquisition date fair
values. The purchase price allocation is subject to change as the Company obtains additional information during the
measurement period about the facts and circumstances that existed as of the acquisition date. During the three
months ended January 31, 2019, the Company received and analyzed new information about the fair value of
consideration transferred, intangible assets and deferred income taxes as of the June 1, 2018 acquisition date and
subsequently made adjustments to those amounts based on this information. The primary areas of the preliminary
purchase price allocation that are not yet finalized relate to the finalization of preliminary fair value estimates, income
taxes and residual goodwill.
The following table summarizes the preliminary allocation of the consideration transferred, and subsequent
measurement period purchase price adjustments recorded, based on currently available information (in thousands):
As
Previously
Reported
October 31,
2018

Cash
Trade accounts and notes receivable
Inventories
Prepaid and other current assets
Property and equipment
Goodwill
Intangible assets
Accounts payable and accrued expenses
Contingent consideration
Deferred income taxes
Fair value of consideration transferred

$

$

Adjustments

5,573 $
84,039
60,272
8,334
37,263
196,969
289,423
(40,833)
(12,039)
(14,337)
614,664 $

January
31, 2019

— $ 5,573
970
85,009
—
60,272
—
8,334
—
37,263
(3,171)
193,798
(2,469)
286,954
(970)
(41,803)
—
(12,039)
2,085
(12,252)
(3,555) $ 611,109

Goodwill arising from the acquisition is attributable to synergies achieved through the streamlining of
operations combined with improved margins attainable through increased market presence. All of the goodwill will be
assigned to the Company’s geographic divisions segment. The goodwill is not expected to be deductible for income
tax purposes.
Trade accounts and notes receivable had a preliminary estimate of fair value of $85.0 million and a gross
contractual value of $86.6 million. The difference represents the Company’s best estimate of the contractual cash
flows that will not be collected.
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The following table summarizes the preliminary components of intangible assets acquired in connection with
the acquisition of Titan (dollars in thousands):

Fair Value

Customer relationships
Tradenames
Developed technology
Non-compete agreements
Other
Total intangible assets

$

$

246,954
30,870
5,402
2,856
872
286,954

Weighted
Average
Amortization
Period
(Years)

15
15
5
3
3

Net sales related to the Titan business included in the Company’s Condensed Consolidated Statement of
Operations and Comprehensive Income for the nine months ended January 31, 2019 was $314.1 million. Net income
related to the Titan business included in the Company’s Condensed Consolidated Statement of Operations and
Comprehensive Income for the nine months ended January 31, 2019 was $8.7 million.
The following table represents the unaudited pro forma consolidated net sales and net income for the
Company for the periods indicated (in thousands):
Three Months Ended
January 31,
2019
2018

Net sales
Net income

$723,902
5,815

Nine Months Ended
January 31,
2019
2018

$693,205 $ 2,381,039 $ 2,238,185
16,513
35,894
54,188

The above pro forma results have been calculated by combining the historical results of the Company and
Titan as if the acquisition of Titan had occurred on May 1, 2017, the first day of the comparable prior reporting period
presented. The pro forma results include estimates for intangible asset amortization, depreciation, interest expense
and debt issuance costs and are subject to change once final asset values have been determined. No other material
pro forma adjustments were deemed necessary to conform to the Company’s accounting policies or for any other
situation. The pro forma information is not necessarily indicative of the results that would have been achieved had
the transactions occurred on the first day of each of the periods presented or that may be achieved in the future.
Other Acquisitions
On August 7, 2018, the Company acquired Charles G. Hardy, Inc. (“CGH”). CGH is an interior building
products distributor in Paramount, California. The impact of this acquisition is not material to the Company’s
Consolidated Financial Statements.
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4. Goodwill and Intangible Assets
Goodwill
The following table presents changes in the carrying amount of goodwill during the nine months ended
January 31, 2019:
Carrying
Amount
(in
thousands)

Balance as of April 30, 2018
Goodwill acquired
Purchase price adjustments from prior periods
Translation adjustment
Balance as of January 31, 2019

$ 427,645
194,436
8
(2,535)
$ 619,554

Intangible Assets
The following tables present the components of the Company’s definite-lived intangible assets as of
January 31, 2019 and April 30, 2018:
Estimated
Useful
Lives
(years)

Customer relationships
Definite-lived tradenames
Vendor agreements
Developed technology
Leasehold interests
Other
Totals

5 - 16
5 - 20
8 - 10
5
1 - 15
3-5

12.9
16.3
8.3
4.9
7.6
3.4

$

$
Estimated
Useful
Lives
(years)

Customer relationships
Definite-lived tradenames
Vendor agreement
Leasehold interests
Other
Totals

Weighted
January 31, 2019
Average
Gross
Amortization
Carrying
Accumulated
Period
Amount
Amortization
(dollars in thousands)

526,120
56,695
6,644
5,328
3,726
4,181
602,694

$

$

198,642
6,128
3,560
723
1,319
878
211,250

Net
Carrying
Value

$

$

April 30, 2018
Weighted
Average
Gross
Amortization
Carrying
Accumulated
Period
Amount
Amortization
(dollars in thousands)

5 - 13
5 - 20
8 - 10
7 - 15
5

10.9
18.0
8.3
9.0
5.0

$

$

282,547
26,250
6,644
2,866
521
318,828

$

$

150,081
3,578
2,956
832
66
157,513

327,478
50,567
3,084
4,605
2,407
3,303
391,444

Net
Carrying
Value

$

$

132,466
22,672
3,688
2,034
455
161,315

Definite-lived intangible assets are amortized over their estimated useful lives. The Company amortizes its
customer relationships using an accelerated method to match the estimated cash flows generated by such assets, and
amortizes its other definite-lived intangibles using the straight-line method because a pattern to which the expected
benefits will be consumed or otherwise used up could not be reliably determined. Amortization expense related to
definite-lived intangible assets was $18.3 million and $10.5 million for the three months ended January 31, 2019 and
2018, respectively, and $53.3 million and $31.5 million for the nine months ended January 31, 2019 and 2018,
respectively. Amortization expense is recorded in depreciation and amortization expense in the Condensed
Consolidated Statements of Operations and Comprehensive Income.
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Based on the current amount of definite-lived intangible assets, the Company expects to record amortization
expense of approximately $17.7 million during the remaining three months in the year ending April 30, 2019 and $64.4
million, $54.6 million, $45.7 million, $38.1 million and $170.9 million during the years ending April 30, 2020, 2021, 2022,
2023 and thereafter, respectively. Actual amortization expense to be reported in future periods could differ materially
from these estimates as a result of acquisitions, changes in useful lives, foreign currency exchange rate fluctuations
and other relevant factors.
The Company’s indefinite-lived intangible assets consist of tradenames that had a carrying amount of $61.4
million as of January 31, 2019 and April 30, 2018.
5. Long-Term Debt
The Company’s long-term debt consisted of the following as of January 31, 2019 and April 30, 2018:
January 31,
April 30,
2019
2018
(in thousands)

First Lien Term Loan (1) (2)
ABL Facility
Capital lease obligations
Installment notes at fixed rates up to 5.0%, due in monthly and annual installments
through 2023 (3)
Carrying value of debt
Less current portion
Long-term debt

$

974,555
137,898
105,489

$ 563,179
—
18,564

15,908
1,233,850
40,328
$ 1,193,522

14,143
595,886
16,284
$ 579,602

(1) Net of unamortized discount of $2,238 and $2,536 as of January 31, 2019 and April 30, 2018, respectively.
(2) Net of deferred financing costs of $12,570 and $6,125 as of January 31, 2019 and April 30, 2018, respectively.
(3) Net of unamortized discount of $1,273 and $1,534 as of January 31, 2019 and April 30, 2018, respectively.
First Lien Term Loan
The Company has a senior secured first lien term loan facility (the "First Lien Facility") that consists of a
First Lien Term Loan (the "First Term Loan").
On June 7, 2017, the Company entered into the Second Amendment to First Lien Credit Agreement, dated
April 1, 2014 (the “First Lien Credit Agreement”) (the “Second Amendment”), which amended the First Lien Credit
Agreement (as previously amended and as supplemented from time to time). The Second Amendment provided for a
new first lien term loan facility under the First Lien Credit Agreement in the aggregate principal amount of
approximately $577.6 million due on April 1, 2023 that bears interest at a floating rate based on LIBOR plus 3.00%,
with a 1.00% floor. Net proceeds were used to repay the outstanding balance of approximately $477.6 million under
the existing First Lien Loan and approximately $94.0 million of loans under the Company’s asset based revolving
credit facility as well as to pay related expenses. The Company recorded a write-off of debt discount and deferred
financing fees of $0.1 million, which is included in write-off of discount and deferred financing fees in the Condensed
Consolidated Statements of Operations and Comprehensive Income for the nine months ended January 31, 2018.
On June 1, 2018, the Company entered into the Third Amendment that provided for a new first lien term loan
facility under the First Lien Credit Agreement in the aggregate principal amount of $996.8 million due in June 2025 that
bears interest at a floating rate based on LIBOR plus 2.75%, with a 0% floor. The net proceeds from the new first lien
term loan facility were used to repay the Company’s existing First Lien Loan outstanding balance of approximately
$571.8 million and to finance the acquisition of Titan. As of January 31, 2019, the applicable rate of interest was
5.25%.
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Asset Based Lending Facility
The Company has an asset based revolving credit facility (the “ABL Facility”) that provides for aggregate
revolving commitments of $345.0 million (including same day swing line borrowings of $34.5 million). GYP Holdings
III Corp. is the lead borrower. Extensions of credit under the ABL Facility are limited by a borrowing base calculated
periodically based on specified percentages of the value of eligible inventory and eligible accounts receivable,
subject to certain reserves and other adjustments.
At the Company’s option, the interest rates applicable to the loans under the ABL Facility are based at
LIBOR or base rate plus, in each case, an applicable margin. The margins applicable for each elected interest rate are
subject to a pricing grid, as defined in the ABL Facility agreement, based on average daily availability for the most
recent fiscal quarter. As of January 31, 2019, the applicable rate of interest was 4.01%. The ABL Facility also contains
an unused commitment fee subject to utilization, as included in the ABL Facility agreement.
During the nine months ended January 31, 2019, the Company made net borrowings under the ABL facility
of $137.9 million. As of January 31, 2019, the Company had available borrowing capacity of approximately $197.3
million under the ABL Facility. The ABL Facility will mature on November 18, 2021 unless the individual affected
lenders agree to extend the maturity of their respective loans under the ABL Facility upon the Company’s request
and without the consent of any other lender. The ABL Facility contains a cross default provision with the First Lien
Facility.
Covenants under the ABL Facility and First Lien Facility
The First Lien Facility contains a number of covenants that limit our ability and the ability of our restricted
subsidiaries, as described in the First Lien Credit Agreement, to: incur more indebtedness; pay dividends, redeem
stock or make other distributions; make investments; create restrictions on the ability of our restricted subsidiaries to
pay dividends to us or make other intercompany transfers; create liens securing indebtedness; transfer or sell assets;
merge or consolidate; enter into certain transactions with our affiliates; and prepay or amend the terms of certain
indebtedness. The Company was in compliance with all restrictive covenants as of January 31, 2019.
The ABL Facility contains certain affirmative covenants, including financial and other reporting
requirements. The Company was in compliance with all such covenants as of January 31, 2019.
Titan Revolving Credit Facility
In connection with the acquisition of Titan on June 1, 2018, the Company assumed Titan’s revolving credit
facility (the “Titan Facility”) that provides for aggregate revolving commitments of $22.5 million ($30.0 million
Canadian dollars), as amended. The Titan Facility bears interest at the Canadian prime rate plus a marginal rate based
on the level determined by Titan’s total debt to EBITDA ratio at the end of the most recently completed fiscal quarter
or year. As of January 31, 2019, no amounts were outstanding under the Titan Facility and the Company had
available borrowing capacity of approximately $22.5 million under the Titan Facility. The Titan Facility matures on
June 28, 2022.
Capital Leases
During the nine months ended January 31, 2019, the Company amended certain terms of its operating lease
agreements for equipment. The amendments would have resulted in capital lease classification of the leases under
lease classification criteria had the changed terms been in effect at lease inception. As such, the amended agreements
were considered new agreements. The new lease agreements were classified as capital leases as of the date of the
modifications based on the application of lease classification criteria. As a result, the Company recorded $73.6 million
of capital lease assets and capital lease obligations in its Condensed Consolidated Balance Sheet during the
nine months ended January 31, 2019.
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Debt Maturities
As of January 31, 2019, the maturities of long-term debt were as follows
First Lien
Term Loan
(1)

Years ending April 30,
2019 (remaining three months)
2020
2021
2022
2023
Thereafter

$

2,491
9,968
9,968
9,968
9,968
947,000
$ 989,363

ABL
Facility

$

—
—
—
137,898
—
—
$137,898

Capital

Installment

Leases
Notes(2)
(in thousands)

$ 5,693
26,343
25,039
21,430
16,019
10,965
$105,489

$

$

604
4,363
4,053
3,617
3,584
960
17,181

Total

$

8,788
40,674
39,060
172,913
29,571
958,925
$1,249,931

(1) Gross of unamortized discount of $2,238 and deferred financing costs of $12,570 as of January 31, 2019.
(2) Gross of unamortized discount of $1,273 as of January 31, 2019.

6. Income Taxes
The Company’s effective income tax rate on continuing operations for the nine months ended
January 31, 2019 was 23.9% compared to an effective income tax rate of 22.7% for the nine months ended January 31,
2018. The increase in the effective income tax rate was primarily due to the impact of the Tax Cuts and Jobs Act of
2017 (the “Tax Act”) and the impact of foreign tax rates and other tax effects associated with the acquisition of Titan.
The U.S. federal statutory rate is 21.0%.
Tax Cuts and Jobs Act. On December 22, 2017, the Tax Act was signed into law. The Tax Act includes a
number of provisions, including the lowering of the U.S. corporate income tax rate from 35% to 21% effective January
1, 2018. In connection with the Tax Act, the SEC issued Staff Accounting Bulletin No. 118 (“SAB 118”) to provide
guidance to companies that had not completed their accounting for the income tax effects of the Tax Act. Under SAB
118, provisional amounts could be recorded to the extent a reasonable estimate could be made. Additional tax effects
and adjustments to previously recorded provisional amounts could be recorded upon obtaining, preparing, or
analyzing additional information (including computations) within one year from the enactment date of the Tax Act.
As of January 31, 2018, the Company was still assessing the overall impact of the Tax Act on its financial
statements and had not completed its accounting for the tax effects of the Tax Act. As of January 31, 2018, the
Company reported provisional amounts reflecting reasonable estimates for the re-measurement of net deferred tax
liabilities due to the reduction in the corporate rate. The Company recorded a provisional income tax benefit of $7.8
million for this re-measurement during the three and nine months ended January 31, 2018, which was included in
provision for income taxes in the Condensed Consolidated Statements of Operations and Comprehensive Income.
As of January 31, 2019, the Company completed its analysis to determine the effects of the Tax Act. As a
result, the Company recorded a $0.1 million income tax benefit during the nine months ended January 31, 2019 related
to tax adjustments made in accordance with SAB 118 with respect to the adjustment of its original provisional
estimate of the impact of the Tax Act.
Due to the acquisition of Titan, the Company is now subject to provisions of the Tax Act related to current
tax on global intangible low-taxed income (“GILTI”) earned by certain foreign subsidiaries. The FASB Staff Q&A,
Topic 740 No. 5, Accounting for Global Intangible Low-Taxed Income, states that an entity can make an accounting
policy election to either recognize deferred taxes for temporary differences expected to reverse as GILTI in
future years or
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provide for the tax expense related to GILTI in the year the tax is incurred. We have elected to recognize the tax on
GILTI as a period expense in the period the tax is incurred.
In general, it is the practice and intention of the Company to reinvest the accumulated earnings of its nonU.S. subsidiaries in those operations. Foreign withholding taxes have not been recognized on the excess of the
amount for financial reporting over the tax basis of investments in foreign subsidiaries that is indefinitely reinvested
outside the United States.
Valuation allowance. The Company also had a valuation allowance of $0.4 million against its deferred tax
assets related to certain U.S. tax jurisdictions as of January 31, 2019 and April 30, 2018. To the extent the Company
generates sufficient taxable income in the future to utilize the tax benefits of the net deferred tax assets on which a
valuation allowance is recorded, the effective tax rate may decrease as the valuation allowance is reversed.
Uncertain tax positions. The Company had no reserve for uncertain tax positions as of January 31, 2019
and April 30, 2018.
7. Stockholders’ Equity
Exchangeable Shares
In connection with the acquisition of Titan on June 1, 2018, the Company issued 1.1 million Exchangeable
Shares. The Exchangeable Shares were issued by an indirect wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company. The
Exchangeable Shares rank senior to the Company’s common stock with respect to dividend rights and rights on
liquidation, dissolution and winding-up. The holders of the Exchangeable Shares are entitled to receive dividends or
distributions that are equal to any dividends or distributions on the Company’s common stock. The holders of the
Exchangeable Shares do not have voting rights.
The Exchangeable Shares contain rights that allow the holders to exchange their Exchangeable Shares for
GMS common stock at any time on a one-for-one basis. If converted, the holders are prevented from transferring
such GMS common stock for one year from the Titan acquisition date. The Exchangeable Shares also contain rights
that allow the Company, through its indirect wholly-owned subsidiary, to convert the Exchangeable Shares into GMS
common stock on or after the fifth anniversary of the initial issuance of the Exchangeable Shares or upon certain
events, as defined in the agreement.
Share Repurchase Program
On November 30, 2018, the Company’s Board of Directors authorized a common stock repurchase program
to repurchase up to $75.0 million outstanding common stock. The Company may conduct repurchases under the
share repurchase program through open market transactions, under trading plans in accordance with SEC Rule 10b5-1
and/or in privately negotiated transactions, in compliance with Rule 10b-18 under the Exchange Act of 1934, as
amended, subject to a variety of factors, including, but not limited to, our liquidity, credit availability, general
business and market conditions, our debt covenant restrictions and the availability of alternative investment
opportunities. The share repurchase program does not obligate us to acquire any particular amount of common stock,
and it may be suspended or terminated at any time at the Company’s discretion.
The Company repurchased 0.7 million shares of its common stock for $11.5 million during the nine months
ended January 31, 2019 pursuant to its share repurchase program. The repurchased common stock was retired. As of
January 31, 2019, the Company had $63.5 million remaining under its repurchase program.

21

Table of Contents
GMS Inc.
Notes to Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements (Unaudited) (Continued)
Accumulated Other Comprehensive Income (Loss)
The following table sets forth the changes to accumulated other comprehensive income (loss), net of tax, by
component for the nine months ended January 31, 2019:
Accumulated
Other
Comprehensive
Income (Loss)
(in thousands)

Accumulated other comprehensive income as of April 30, 2018
Foreign currency translation adjustments
Other comprehensive loss on interest rate cap
Reclassification to earnings from accumulated other comprehensive income for interest rate cap
Accumulated other comprehensive loss as of January 31, 2019

$

$

441
(8,821)
(237)
728
(7,889)

8. Equity-Based Compensation
General
The Company measures compensation cost for all share-based awards at fair value on the grant date (or
measurement date if different) and recognizes compensation expense, net of estimated forfeitures, over the requisite
service period for awards expected to vest. The Company estimates the fair value of stock options using the BlackScholes valuation model, and determines the fair value of restricted stock units based on the quoted price of GMS’s
common stock on the date of grant. The Company estimates forfeitures based on historical analysis of actual
forfeitures and employee turnover. Actual forfeitures are recorded when incurred and estimated forfeitures are
reviewed and adjusted at least annually.
Equity-based compensation expense related to stock options and restricted stock units was $2.6 million and
$1.3 million during the nine months ended January 31, 2019 and 2018, respectively, and is included in selling, general
and administrative expenses in the Condensed Consolidated Statements of Operations and Comprehensive Income.
Stock Option Awards
The following table presents stock option activity for the nine months ended January 31, 2019:
Weighted
Weighted
Average
Average
Remaining Aggregate
Number of Exercise Contractual
Intrinsic
Options
Price
Life (years)
Value
(shares and dollars in thousands)

Outstanding as of April 30, 2018
Options granted
Options exercised
Options forfeited
Options expired
Outstanding as of January 31, 2019
Exercisable as of January 31, 2019
Vested and expected to vest as of January 31, 2019

1,952
374
(103)
(41)
—
2,182
1,724
2,173

$

$
$
$

14.37
25.58
12.41
27.00
—
16.15
13.51
16.10

6.52

$ 33,209

6.35
5.63
6.34

$ 10,261
$ 10,217
$ 10,260

The aggregate intrinsic value represents the value of the Company’s closing stock price on the last trading
day of the period in excess of the weighted average exercise price multiplied by the number of options outstanding,
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exercisable or expected to vest. Options expected to vest are unvested shares net of expected forfeitures. The total
intrinsic value of options exercised during the nine months ended January 31, 2019 and 2018 was $0.8 million and $3.7
million, respectively. As of January 31, 2019, there was $3.2 million of total unrecognized compensation cost related to
stock options. That cost is expected to be recognized over a weighted-average period of 2.3 years.
There were no stock options granted during the nine months ended January 31, 2018. The fair value of stock
options granted during the nine months ended January 31, 2019 was estimated using the Black-Scholes optionpricing model with the following assumptions:
Nine Months Ended
January 31, 2019

Volatility
Expected life (years)
Risk-free interest rate
Dividend yield

33.71 %
6.0
2.87 %
—%

The weighted average grant date fair value of options granted during the nine months ended
January 31, 2019 was $9.72 per share. The expected volatility was based on the average volatility of peer public
entities that are similar in size and industry because prior to our IPO we did not have sufficient history to estimate the
expected volatility of our common stock price. The expected life of stock options was based on previous history of
exercises. The risk-free rate was based on the U.S. Treasury yield curve in effect at the time of grant for the expected
term of the stock option. The expected dividend yield was 0% as we have not declared any common stock dividends
to date and do not expect to declare common stock dividends in the near future. The fair value of the underlying
common stock at the date of grant was determined based on the value of the Company’s closing stock price on the
trading day immediately preceding the date of the grant.
Restricted Stock Units
The following table presents restricted stock unit activity for the nine months ended January 31, 2019:
Weighted
Number of
Average
Restricted
Exercise
Stock
Units
Price
(shares in thousands)

Outstanding as of April 30, 2018
Granted
Vested
Forfeited
Outstanding as of January 31, 2019

22 $
188
(7)
(15)
188 $

37.49
24.87
37.49
26.41
25.72

As of January 31, 2019, there was $3.7 million of total unrecognized compensation cost related to nonvested
restricted stock units. That cost is expected to be recognized over a weighted-average period of 2.1 years.
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9. Stock Appreciation Rights, Deferred Compensation and Redeemable Noncontrolling Interests
The following table presents a summary of changes to the liabilities for stock appreciation rights, deferred
compensation and redeemable noncontrolling interests for the nine months ended January 31, 2019:
Stock
Appreciation
Rights

Balance as of April 30, 2018
Amounts redeemed
Change in fair value
Balance as of January 31, 2019

$

Classified as current as of April 30, 2018
Classified as long-term as of April 30, 2018
Classified as current as of January 31, 2019
Classified as long-term as of January 31, 2019

Redeemable
Deferred
Noncontrolling
Compensation
Interests
(in thousands)

21,944 $
(1,216)
1,426
22,154 $

2,222 $
(715)
118
1,625 $

16,170
(4,673)
661
12,158

$

308
21,636

$

133
2,089

$

463
15,707

$

981
21,173

$

—
1,625

$

1,034
11,124

$

Total expense related to these instruments was $2.2 million and $3.2 million during the nine months ended
January 31, 2019 and 2018, respectively, and was included in selling, general and administrative expenses in the
Condensed Consolidated Statements of Operations and Comprehensive Income.
Stock Appreciation Rights
Certain subsidiaries have granted stock appreciation rights to certain employees under which payments are
dependent on the appreciation in the book value per share, adjusted for certain provisions, of the applicable
subsidiary. Settlements of the awards can be made in a combination of cash or installment notes, generally paid over
four years, upon a triggering event. As of January 31, 2019, all stock appreciation rights were vested.
Deferred Compensation
Subsidiaries’ stockholders have entered into other deferred compensation agreements that granted the
stockholders a payment based on a percentage in excess of book value, adjusted for certain provisions, upon an
occurrence as defined in the related agreements, which are called “Buy Sell” agreements. These instruments are
redeemed in cash or installment notes, generally paid in annual installments over the five years following termination
of employment.
Redeemable Noncontrolling Interests
Noncontrolling interests were issued to certain employees of the subsidiaries. All of the noncontrolling
interest awards are subject to mandatory redemption on termination of employment for any reason. These
instruments are redeemed in cash or installment notes, generally paid in annual installments over the five years
following termination of employment. Liabilities related to these agreements are classified as share-based liability
awards and are measured at intrinsic value. Intrinsic value is determined to be the stated redemption value of the
shares. Under the terms of the employee agreements, the redemption value is determined based on the book value of
the subsidiary, as adjusted for certain items.
Upon the termination of employment or other triggering events including death or disability of the
noncontrolling stockholders in the Company’s subsidiaries, we are obligated to purchase, or redeem, the
noncontrolling interests at either an agreed upon price or a formula value provided in the stockholder agreements.
This formula value is typically based on the book value per share of the subsidiary’s equity, including certain
adjustments.
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10. Fair Value Measurements
Assets and Liabilities Measured at Fair Value on a Recurring Basis
The following table presents the estimated carrying amount and fair value of the Company’s assets and
liabilities measured at fair value on a recurring basis as of January 31, 2019 and April 30, 2018:
January 31,
April 30,
2019
2018
(in thousands)

Assets:
Interest rate cap (Level 2)
Liabilities:
Forward currency forward (Level 2)
Stock appreciation rights (Level 3)
Deferred compensation (Level 3)
Noncontrolling interest holders (Level 3)
Contingent consideration (Level 3)

$

—

$

543

$

—
22,154
1,625
12,158
12,406

$

5,108
21,944
2,222
16,170
—

Derivative instruments. The fair value of derivative instruments is determined using Level 2 inputs.
Generally, the Company obtains the Level 2 inputs from its counterparties. Substantially all of the inputs are
observable in the marketplace throughout the full term of the instruments, which can be derived from observable data
or are supported by observable levels at which transactions are executed in the marketplace. The fair value of the
Company’s interest rate cap was determined using widely accepted valuation techniques including a discounted
cash flow analysis on the expected cash flows of the derivative. This analysis reflected the contractual terms of the
derivatives, including the period to maturity, and used observable market-based inputs, including interest rate curves
and implied volatilities. The Company’s interest rate cap expired on October 31, 2018. The fair value of the Company’s
forward currency forward contract was based on observable market inputs, such as forward rates in active markets.
During the nine months ended January 31, 2019, the Company recognized a $5.7 million loss on the change
in fair value of its foreign currency forward contract, which was settled upon the acquisition on Titan. The loss is
included within change in fair value of financial instruments in the Condensed Consolidated Statement of Operations
and Comprehensive Income.
Stock appreciation rights, deferred compensation and redeemable noncontrolling interests. The fair
values of stock appreciation rights, deferred compensation and redeemable noncontrolling interests are determined
using Level 3 inputs. These inputs include a volatility rate based on comparable entities, a discount rate, the expected
time to redemption of the liabilities, historical values of the book equity of certain subsidiaries and market information
for comparable entities. The use of these inputs to derive the fair value of the liabilities at a point in time can result in
volatility to the financial statements. See Note 9, “Stock Appreciation Rights, Deferred Compensation and
Redeemable Noncontrolling Interests,” for a reconciliation of the beginning and ending balances.
Contingent consideration. The fair value of contingent consideration is determined using Level 3 inputs.
These inputs include a discount rate and probability adjusted payments. In connection with the acquisition of Titan,
the Company assumed certain contingent consideration arrangements that have an estimated fair value of $12.4
million. During the nine months ended January 31, 2019, the Company recorded expense of $0.5 million related to the
contingent consideration, which was included in selling, general and administrative expenses in the Condensed
Consolidated Statement of Operations and Comprehensive Income.
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Assets and Liabilities Measured at Fair Value on a Nonrecurring Basis
Disclosures are required for certain assets and liabilities that are measured at fair value on a nonrecurring
basis in periods subsequent to initial recognition. Such measurements of fair value relate primarily to assets and
liabilities measured at fair value in connection with business combinations and long-lived asset impairments. For
more information on business combinations, see Note 3, “Business Acquisitions.” There were no material long-lived
asset impairments during the nine months ended January 31, 2019 or 2018.
11. Transactions With Related Parties
The Company leases office and warehouse facilities from partnerships or entities owned by certain executive
officers and stockholders of GMS Inc. and its subsidiaries. As of January 31, 2019, these leases had expiration dates
through fiscal 2025. Rent expense related to these leases was $0.2 million and $0.2 million for the three months ended
January 31, 2019 and 2018, respectively, and $0.6 million and $0.6 million for the nine months ended January 31, 2019
and 2018, respectively. Rent expense related to these leases is included in selling, general and administrative
expenses in the Condensed Consolidated Statements of Operations and Comprehensive Income.
The Company purchases inventories from Southern Wall Products, Inc. (“SWP”) on a continuing basis.
Certain executive officers and stockholders of the Company are stockholders of SWP, which was spun-off from
Gypsum Management and Supply, Inc. on August 31, 2012. The Company purchased inventory from SWP for
distribution in the amount of $3.0 million and $3.3 million during the three months ended January 31, 2019 and 2018,
respectively, and $10.0 million and $10.5 million during the nine months ended January 31, 2019 and 2018,
respectively. Amounts due to SWP for purchases of inventory for distribution were $1.0 million and $1.2 million as of
January 31, 2019 and April 30, 2018, respectively, and are included in accounts payable in the Condensed
Consolidated Balance Sheets.
12. Commitments and Contingencies
The Company is a defendant in various lawsuits and administrative actions associated with personal
injuries, claims of former employees, and other events arising in the normal course of business. As discussed in
Note 1 “—Insurance Liabilities”, the Company records liabilities for these claims, and assets for amounts recoverable
from the insurer, for these claims covered by insurance.
13. Segments
General
The Company has seven operating segments based on geographic operations that it aggregates
into one reportable segment. The Company defines operating segments as components of the organization for which
discrete financial information is available and operating results are evaluated on a regular basis by the Chief
Operating Decision Maker (“CODM”) in order to assess performance and allocate resources. The Company’s CODM
is its Chief Executive Officer. The Company determined it has seven operating segments based on the Company’s
seven geographic divisions, which are Central, Midwest, Northeast, Southern, Southeast, Western and Canada. On
June 1, 2018, the Company acquired Titan, which resulted in the addition of a new operating segment. The Company
aggregates its operating segments into a single reportable segment based on similarities between the operating
segments’ economic characteristics, nature of products sold, production process, type of customer and methods of
distribution. The accounting policies of the operating segments are the same as those described in the summary of
significant policies. In addition to the Company’s reportable segment, the Company’s consolidated results include
both corporate activities and certain other activities. Corporate includes the Company’s corporate office building and
support services provided to its subsidiaries. Other includes Tool Source Warehouse, Inc., which functions primarily
as an internal distributor of tools.

26

Table of Contents
GMS Inc.
Notes to Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements (Unaudited) (Continued)
Segment Results
The CODM assesses the Company’s performance based on the periodic review of net sales, Adjusted
EBITDA and certain other measures for each of the operating segments. Adjusted EBITDA is not a recognized
financial measure under GAAP. However, we believe it assists investors and analysts in comparing our operating
performance across reporting periods on a consistent basis by excluding items that we do not believe are indicative
of our core operating performance. Management believes Adjusted EBITDA is helpful in highlighting trends in our
operating results, while other measures can differ significantly depending on long-term strategic decisions regarding
capital structure, the tax jurisdictions in which companies operate and capital investments.
In addition, we utilize Adjusted EBITDA in certain calculations under the ABL Facility and the First Lien
Facility. The ABL Facility and the First Lien Facility permit us to make certain additional adjustments in calculating
Consolidated EBITDA, such as projected net cost savings, which are not reflected in the Adjusted EBITDA data
presented in this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q.
The following tables present segment results for the three and nine months ended January 31, 2019 and
2018:
Three Months Ended January 31, 2019
Depreciation and Adjusted
Net Sales Gross Profit
Amortization
EBITDA
(in thousands)

Geographic divisions
Other
Corporate

$717,984
5,918
—
$723,902

$

232,201
2,025
—
234,226

$

$

29,368
55
797
30,220

$

$ 59,321
396
—
$ 59,717

Three Months Ended January 31, 2018
Depreciation and Adjusted
Net Sales Gross Profit
Amortization
EBITDA
(in thousands)

Geographic divisions
Other
Corporate

$579,974
5,534
—
$585,508

$

193,329
2,091
—
195,420

$

$

16,252
59
179
16,490

$

$ 41,658
549
—
$ 42,207

Nine Months Ended January 31, 2019
Depreciation and Adjusted
Net Sales
Gross Profit
Amortization
EBITDA
(in thousands)

Geographic divisions
Other
Corporate

$2,316,732
19,151
—
$2,335,883

$

$

740,591
6,601
—
747,192

$

$

85,284 $220,365
168
1,769
1,877
—
87,329 $222,134

Nine Months Ended January 31, 2018
Depreciation and Adjusted
Net Sales
Gross Profit
Amortization
EBITDA
(in thousands)

Geographic divisions
Other
Corporate

$1,858,259
17,410
—
$1,875,669
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$

606,388
6,396
—
612,784

$

$

48,744 $147,534
183
1,667
621
—
49,548 $149,201
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The following table presents a reconciliation of Adjusted EBITDA to net income for the three and nine
months ended January 31, 2019 and 2018:
Three Months
Ended
Nine Months Ended
January 31,
January 31,
2019
2018
2019
2018
(in thousands)

Net income
Interest expense
Write-off of debt discount and deferred financing fees
Interest income
Provision (benefit) for income taxes
Depreciation expense
Amortization expense
Stock appreciation expense(a)
Redeemable noncontrolling interests(b)
Equity-based compensation(c)
Severance and other permitted costs(d)
Transaction costs (acquisitions and other)(e)
Gain on sale of assets
Effects of fair value adjustments to inventory(f)
Change in fair value of financial instruments(g)
Secondary public offering costs(h)
Debt transaction costs(i)
Adjusted EBITDA

$ 5,815 $19,686 $ 39,377 $ 53,052
19,526
7,871
54,896
23,288
—
—
—
74
(10)
(44)
(43)
(93)
1,442
(4,488) 12,337
15,555
11,919
6,009
34,067
18,021
18,301
10,481
53,262
31,527
442
631
1,425
1,863
(35)
340
778
1,370
1,140
430
2,638
1,277
229
8
5,947
325
1,066
75
6,660
321
(118)
(51)
(412)
(648)
—
89
4,129
276
—
276
6,395
710
—
894
—
1,525
—
—
678
758
$59,717 $42,207 $222,134 $149,201

(a) Represents non-cash expense related to stock appreciation rights agreements.
(b) Represents non-cash compensation expense related to changes in the redemption values of noncontrolling
interests.
(c) Represents non-cash equity-based compensation expense related to the issuance of share-based awards.
(d) Represents severance expenses and other costs permitted in calculations under the ABL Facility and the First
Lien Facility.
(e) Represents one-time costs related to acquisitions paid to third parties.
(f) Represents the non-cash cost of sales impact of purchase accounting adjustments to increase inventory to its
estimated fair value.
(g) Represents the mark-to-market adjustments for derivative financial instruments.
(h) Represents one-time costs related to our secondary offering paid to third-party advisors.
(i)

Represents costs paid to third-party advisors related to debt refinancing activities.
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Revenues by Product
The following table presents the Company’s net sales to external customers by main product lines for the
three and nine months ended January 31, 2019 and 2018:
Three Months Ended
Nine Months Ended
January 31,
January 31,
2019
2018
2019
2018
(in thousands)

Wallboard
Ceilings
Steel framing
Other products
Total net sales

$297,358
105,219
117,432
203,893
$723,902

$256,413
90,360
96,744
141,991
$585,508

$ 949,781
339,450
382,304
664,348
$2,335,883

$ 829,568
291,716
304,598
449,787
$1,875,669

Geographic Information
The following table presents the Company’s net sales by major geographic area for the three and nine
months ended January 31, 2019 and 2018:
Three Months Ended
Nine Months Ended
January 31,
January 31,
2019
2018
2019
2018
(in thousands)

United States
Canada
Total net sales

$624,672
99,230
$723,902

$585,508
—
$585,508

$ 2,021,750
314,133
$ 2,335,883

$ 1,875,669
—
$ 1,875,669

The average exchange rates for translating Canada net sales from Canadian dollars to U.S. dollars were
0.7491 and 0.7609 for the three and nine months ended January 31, 2019, respectively. The average exchange rates
were 0.7895 and 0.7875 for the three and nine months ended January 31, 2018, respectively.
The following table presents the Company’s long-lived assets by major geographic area as of
January 31, 2019 and April 30, 2018:
January 31,
April 30,
2019
2018
(in thousands)

United States
Canada
Total long-lived assets

$

871,596
480,994
$ 1,352,590
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14. Earnings Per Common Share
The following table sets forth the computation of basic and diluted earnings per share of common stock for
the three and nine months ended January 31, 2019 and 2018:
Three Months Ended
Nine Months Ended
January 31,
January 31,
2019
2018
2019
2018
(in thousands, except per share data)

Net income
Less: Net income allocated to participating securities
Net income attributable to common stockholders
Basic earnings per common share:
Basic weighted average common shares outstanding
Basic earnings per common share
Diluted earnings per common share:
Basic weighted average common shares outstanding
Add: Common Stock Equivalents
Diluted weighted average common shares outstanding

$
$

5,815
156
5,659

$

40,912
0.14

$

40,912
459
41,371
0.14

Diluted earnings per common share

$
$

19,686
—
19,686

$

41,036
0.48

$

41,036
1,192
42,228
0.47

$
$

39,377
940
38,437

$

41,053
0.94

$

41,053
736
41,789
0.92

$
$

53,052
—
53,052

$

41,004
1.29

$

41,004
1,163
42,167
1.26

15. Subsequent Events
In February 2019, the Company entered into an interest rate swap agreement with a notional amount of
$500.0 million to convert the variable interest rate on its First Lien Term Loan to a fixed 1-month LIBOR interest rate of
2.46%. This contract was effective on February 28, 2019 and terminates on February 28, 2023.
On March 4, 2019, the Company acquired Commercial Builders Group, LLC, an interior building products
distributer in LaPlace, Louisiana.
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Item 2. Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations
The following information should be read in conjunction with the unaudited condensed consolidated
financial statements and related notes included in this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q. The following discussion
may contain forward-looking statements that reflect our plans, estimates and beliefs. Our actual results could differ
materially from those discussed in these forward-looking statements. Factors that could cause or contribute to
these differences include those factors discussed below and elsewhere in this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q,
particularly in “Cautionary Note Regarding Forward-Looking Statements,” and discussed in the section entitled
“Risk Factors” included in our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended April 30, 2018.
Overview
Founded in 1971, GMS Inc. (“we,” “our,” “us,” or the “Company”) is a distributor of specialty building
products including wallboard, suspended ceilings systems, or ceilings, steel framing and other complementary
specialty building products. We purchase products from a large number of manufacturers and then distribute these
goods to a customer base consisting of wallboard and ceilings contractors and homebuilders and, to a lesser extent,
general contractors and individuals. We operate a network of more than 245 distribution centers across the United
States and Canada.
Business Strategy
Our growth strategy entails taking market share within our existing footprint and expanding in existing and
new markets by opening new branches and acquiring competitors. We expect to continue to capture profitable market
share in our existing footprint by delivering industry-leading customer service. Our strategy for opening new
branches is to further penetrate markets that are adjacent to our existing operations. Typically, we have pre-existing
customer relationships in these markets but need a new location to fully capitalize on those relationships. Since
May 1, 2013 we have opened more than 30 new greenfield branches and we currently expect to open several new
greenfield branches each year depending on market conditions. In addition, we will continue to selectively pursue
tuck-in acquisitions and have a dedicated team of professionals to manage this process. Due to the large, highly
fragmented nature of our market and our reputation throughout the industry, we believe we have the potential to
access a robust acquisition pipeline that will continue to supplement our organic growth. We use a rigorous targeting
process to identify acquisition candidates that will fit our culture and business model. As a result of our scale,
purchasing power and ability to improve operations through implementing best practices, we believe we can achieve
substantial synergies and drive earnings accretion from our acquisition strategy.
Acquisition of Titan
On June 1, 2018, we acquired all of the outstanding equity interests of WSB Titan (“Titan”), a distributer of
drywall, lumber, commercial and residential building materials. Titan is Canada’s largest gypsum specialty dealer with
30 locations across five provinces in Canada. The aggregate purchase price was $627.0 million ($800.0 million
Canadian dollars), subject to a working capital and certain other adjustments as set forth in the Securities Purchase
Agreement. As part of the consideration, certain members of Titan’s management converted a portion of their
ownership position into 1.1 million shares of equity that are exchangeable for the Company’s common stock. The
transaction extends our leadership position in North America with expanded scale and footprint, expands our
geographic coverage into the Canadian market and creates opportunities for further expansion in Canada.
To finance this transaction, on June 1, 2018, we entered into the Third Amendment to our First Lien Credit
Agreement (the “Third Amendment”) as detailed under the heading “Term Loan Amendment.” We also drew down
$143.0 million under our asset backed revolving credit facility (the “ABL Facility”).
Other Acquisitions
On August 7, 2018, we acquired Charles G. Hardy, Inc. (“CGH”). CGH is an interior building products
distributor in Paramount, California. CHG has been treated as a new greenfield branch.
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On March 4, 2019, we acquired Commercial Builders Group, LLC, an interior building products distributer in
LaPlace, Louisiana.
Term Loan Amendment
On June 1, 2018, we entered into the Third Amendment that provides for a new first lien term loan facility
under the credit agreement in the aggregate principal amount of approximately $996.8 million due in June 2025 that
bears interest at a floating rate based on LIBOR plus 2.75%, with a 0% floor, representing a 25 basis point
improvement compared to the interest rate of the existing first lien term loan facility under the credit agreement
immediately prior to giving effect to the Third Amendment. The net proceeds from the new first lien term loan facility,
ABL Facility and cash on hand were used to repay our existing first lien term loan facility of $571.8 million and to
finance the Titan acquisition.
Operating Lease Amendments
During the nine months ended January 31, 2019, the Company amended certain of its operating lease
agreements for equipment. The amendments resulted in the Company classifying these leases as capital leases upon
the date of the modification. As a result, the Company recorded $73.6 million of capital lease assets and capital lease
obligations during the nine months ended January 31, 2019. In addition, the Company began financing the purchase
of new equipment under capital leases.
Restructuring
During the nine months ended January 31, 2019, the Company initiated a reduction in workforce as part of a
strategic cost reduction plan to improve operational efficiency. The Company recorded $5.2 million of restructuring
costs during the nine months ended January 31, 2019 in connection with the reduction in workforce and certain other
restructuring activities, consisting primarily of severance and other employee costs. Such costs are classified within
selling, general and administrative expenses in the Condensed Consolidated Statement of Operations and
Comprehensive Income. As of January 31, 2019, the Company had a remaining liability of $0.6 million. The Company
expects to make cash payments to settle the remaining liability within the next twelve months.
Share Repurchase Program
On November 30, 2018, our Board of Directors authorized a common stock repurchase program to
repurchase up to $75.0 million of our outstanding common stock. We may conduct repurchases under the share
repurchase program through open market transactions, under trading plans in accordance with Rule 10b5-1 and/or in
privately negotiated transactions, in compliance with Rule 10b-18 under the Exchange Act of 1934, as amended,
subject to a variety of factors, including, but not limited to, our liquidity, credit availability, general business and
market conditions, our debt covenant restrictions and the availability of alternative investment opportunities. The
repurchase program does not require us to acquire any specific number of shares and may be terminated at any
time. As of January 31, 2019, we had $63.5 million available under the repurchase program.
Interest Rate Swap
In February 2019, the Company entered into an interest rate swap agreement with a notional amount of
$500.0 million to convert the variable interest rate on its First Lien Term Loan to a fixed 1-month LIBOR interest rate of
2.46%. This contract was effective on February 28, 2019 and terminates on February 28, 2023.
Factors and Trends Affecting our Operating Results
See Item 7, “Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations” in
our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended April 30, 2018 for a discussion of the general and specific
factors and trends affecting our business and results of operations, which include general economic conditions and
outlook, new commercial construction, commercial repair and remodel (“R&R”) spending, new residential
construction, residential
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R&R spending, seasonality and inflation and acquisitions. There were no material changes to those matters during
the nine months ended January 31, 2019.
Our Products
The following is a summary of our net sales by product group for the three and nine months ended January
31, 2019 and 2018:
Three Months Ended
Nine Months Ended
January 31,
% of
January 31,
% of
January 31,
% of
January 31,
2019
Total
2018
Total
2019
Total
2018
(dollars in thousands)

Wallboard
Ceilings
Steel framing
Other products
Total net sales

$

$

297,358
105,219
117,432
203,893
723,902

41.1
14.5
16.2
28.2

% $
%
%
%
$

256,413
90,360
96,744
141,991
585,508

43.8
15.4
16.5
24.3

% $ 949,781
%
339,450
%
382,304
%
664,348
$ 2,335,883

40.7
14.5
16.4
28.4

% $ 829,568
%
291,716
%
304,598
%
449,787
$ 1,875,669

% of
Total

44.2
15.6
16.2
24.0

%
%
%
%

Results of Operations
Three Months Ended January 31, 2019 and 2018
The following table summarizes key components of our results of operations for the three months ended
January 31, 2019 and 2018:
Three Months Ended
January 31,
2019
2018
(dollars in thousands)

Statement of operations data(1):
Net sales
Cost of sales (exclusive of depreciation and amortization shown separately below)
Gross profit
Operating expenses:
Selling, general and administrative expenses
Depreciation and amortization
Total operating expenses
Operating income
Other (expense) income:
Interest expense
Change in fair value of financial instruments
Other income, net
Total other expense, net
Income before taxes
Provision (benefit) for income taxes
Net income
Non-GAAP measures:
Adjusted EBITDA(2)
Adjusted EBITDA margin(2)(3)

$ 723,902
489,676
234,226

$ 585,508
390,088
195,420

178,180
30,220
208,400
25,826

156,262
16,490
172,752
22,668

(19,526)
—
957
(18,569)
7,257
1,442
$ 5,815

(7,871)
(276)
677
(7,470)
15,198
(4,488)
$ 19,686

$ 59,717
$ 42,207
8.2 %
7.2 %

(1) The comparison of statement of operations data is affected by our acquisition of Titan on June 1, 2018. The
results of operations of Titan are included in our operating results beginning on the acquisition date.
(2) Adjusted EBITDA and Adjusted EBITDA margin are non-GAAP measures. See “—Non-GAAP Financial
Measures—Adjusted EBITDA,” for how we define and calculate Adjusted EBITDA and Adjusted EBITDA
margin, reconciliations thereof to net income and a description of why we believe these measures are important.
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(3) Adjusted EBITDA margin is Adjusted EBITDA as a percentage of net sales.
Net Sales
Net sales of $723.9 million increased $138.4 million, or 23.6%, from $585.5 million for the three months ended
January 31, 2018. The increase in net sales was due to the following:
·

Wallboard sales, which are impacted by both commercial and residential construction activity, increased
$40.9 million, or 16.0%, compared to the three months ended January 31, 2018. The increase in wallboard
sales was driven by the impact of the acquisitions, primarily our acquisition of Titan on June 1, 2018, and
improved pricing.

·

Ceilings sales increased $14.9 million, or 16.4%, compared to the three months ended January 31, 2018. The
increase in ceilings sales was mainly due to higher organic volumes as a result of increased commercial
business, pricing improvement and the positive impact of acquisitions.

·

Steel framing sales increased $20.7 million, or 21.4%, compared to the three months ended January 31, 2018.
The increase in steel framing sales was mainly due to pricing improvement, the positive impact of
acquisitions, and higher organic volumes as a result of greater commercial activity.

·

Other products sales, which includes insulation, joint treatment, tools, lumber and various other specialty
building products, increased $61.9 million, or 43.6%, compared to the three months ended January 31, 2018.
The increase was due to the impact of the acquisition of Titan, as well as higher organic volumes and pricing
improvement.

From February 2, 2017 through January 31, 2019, we completed three acquisitions, which included four
branches in the United States and 30 branches across Canada. These acquisitions contributed $106.7 million to our
net sales in the three months ended January 31, 2019. Excluding these acquired sites, for the three months ended
January 31, 2019 and 2018, our base business net sales increased $38.2 million, or 6.6%, compared to the three months
ended January 31, 2018. The overall increase in our base business net sales reflects the increase in demand for our
products as a result of the improvement in new housing starts, R&R activity and commercial construction.
The following table breaks out our consolidated net sales into the base business component and the
excluded components, which consist of recently acquired branches, as shown below:
Three Months Ended
January 31,
2019
2018
(in thousands)

(Unaudited)

Base business net sales
Recently acquired net sales (excluded from base business)
Total net sales

$ 617,202
106,700
$ 723,902

$ 578,988
6,520
$ 585,508

When calculating our “base business” results, we exclude any branches that were acquired in the current
fiscal year, prior fiscal year and three months prior to the start of the prior fiscal year. Therefore, any acquisition
occurring between February 2, 2017 and April 30, 2019 will be excluded from base business net sales for any period
during fiscal year 2019.
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We have excluded the following acquisitions from the base business for the periods identified:

Acquisition

ASI Building Products, LLC (MI)
Southwest Building Materials, Ltd. (TX)
WSB Titan (CAN)

Acquisition Date

August 1, 2017
December 4,
2017
June 1, 2018

Branches
Acquired

3
1
30

Periods Excluded

August 1, 2017 - January 31, 2019
December 4, 2017 - January 31,
2019
June 1, 2018 - January 31, 2019

(1) Our acquisition of CGH on August 7, 2018 has been treated as a new greenfield branch and is included in base
business net sales for purposes of calculating our base business results.
Gross Profit and Gross Margin
Gross profit of $234.2 million for the three months ended January 31, 2019 increased $38.8 million, or 19.9%,
from the three months ended January 31, 2018 as a result of higher sales including the positive impact of acquisitions
and pricing improvement. Gross margin on net sales decreased to 32.4% for the three months ended January 31, 2019
compared to 33.4% for the three months ended January 31, 2018 primarily due to increased product costs and
changes in product mix.
Selling, General and Administrative Expenses
Selling, general and administrative expenses consist of warehouse, delivery and general and administrative
expenses. Selling, general and administrative expenses of $178.2 million for the three months ended January 31, 2019
increased $21.9 million, or 14.0%, from the three months ended January 31, 2018. The increase was due to the
acquisition of Titan, a $1.1 million increase in payroll and payroll related costs due to growth in our base business,
$1.0 million of transaction costs related to the acquisition of Titan and $0.2 million of restructuring costs. These
increases were partially offset by $5.9 million of expense savings from the amendment of certain equipment operating
leases that are now being accounted for as capital leases. Selling, general and administrative expenses was 24.6% of
our net sales during the three months ended January 31, 2019, compared to 26.7% of our net sales during the
three months ended January 31, 2018. The decrease was driven by increased cost efficiencies, primarily the result of
cost reduction initiatives taken during the fiscal year, contributions from the Titan acquisition and our changes to
lease accounting. These improvements were partially offset by continuing inflation pressures, primarily in logistics.
Depreciation and Amortization Expense
Depreciation and amortization includes depreciation of property and equipment and amortization of definitelived intangible assets acquired in purchases of businesses and purchases of assets from other
companies. Depreciation and amortization expense was $30.2 million for the three months ended January 31, 2019
compared to $16.5 million for the three months ended January 31, 2018. The increase was due to an $7.8 million
increase in amortization of definite-lived intangible assets and a $5.9 million increase in depreciation expense. The
increase in amortization expense was primarily attributable to expense resulting from definite-lived intangible assets
obtained in the acquisition of Titan. The increase in depreciation expense was primarily attributable to expense
resulting from property and equipment obtained in the acquisition of Titan and $3.5 million of depreciation expense
resulting from amendments of certain operating leases for equipment that are now being accounted for as capital
leases.
Interest Expense
Interest expense consists primarily of interest expense incurred on our debt and capital leases and
amortization of deferred financing fees and debt discounts. Interest expense was $19.5 million during the
three months ended January 31, 2019 compared to $7.9 million for the three months ended January 31, 2018. The
increase was primarily due to an increase in the outstanding amount of debt related to the financing of the acquisition
of Titan. The gross amount of our outstanding debt increased $425.0 million due to the Third Amendment to our first
lien term loan facility and increased $137.9 million due to net borrowings under our ABL facility. Also contributing to
the increase was a $2.9 million
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increase in interest expense resulting from amendments of certain operating leases for equipment that are now being
accounted for as capital leases.
Income Taxes
We recognized income tax expense of $1.4 million during the three months ended January 31, 2019 compared
to an income tax benefit of $4.5 million during the three months ended January 31, 2018. Our effective tax rate was
19.9% and (29.7%) for the three months ended January 31, 2019 and 2018, respectively. The change in the effective
income tax rate from the three months ended January 31, 2018 to the three months ended January 31, 2019 was
primarily due to the impact of the Tax Cuts and Jobs Act of 2017 (the “Tax Act”), which resulted in a provisional
income tax benefit of $7.8 million recognized during the three months ended January 31, 2018 related to the remeasurement of net deferred tax liabilities in connection with enactment of the Tax Act, the impact of foreign tax rates
and other tax effects associated with the acquisition of Titan. See Note 6 of the Notes to Condensed Consolidated
Financial Statements included in this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for more information regarding the Tax Act.
Net Income
Net income was $5.8 million during the three months ended January 31, 2019 compared to $19.7 million for
the three months ended January 31, 2018. The decrease in net income was primarily due to an increase in depreciation
and amortization expense resulting from property and equipment and definite-lived intangible assets obtained in the
acquisition of Titan, an increase in income tax expense and an increase in interest expense resulting from the debt
financing completed in connection with the acquisition of Titan and our operating lease amendments, partially offset
by the increase in Adjusted EBITDA discussed below.
Adjusted EBITDA
Adjusted EBITDA of $59.7 million for the three months ended January 31, 2019 increased $17.5 million, or
41.5%, from our Adjusted EBITDA of $42.2 million for the three months ended January 31, 2018. The increase in
Adjusted EBITDA was primarily due to the inclusion of Adjusted EBITDA of Titan, changes to our lease accounting
and increased cost efficiencies, primarily the result of cost reduction initiatives taken during the fiscal year. See “—
Non-GAAP Financial Measures—Adjusted EBITDA,” for how we define and calculate Adjusted EBITDA,
reconciliations thereof to net income and a description of why we believe these measures are important.
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Nine Months Ended January 31, 2019 and 2018
The following table summarizes key components of our results of operations for the nine months ended
January 31, 2019 and 2018:
Nine Months Ended
January 31,
2019
2018
(dollars in thousands)

Statement of operations data:
Net sales
Cost of sales (exclusive of depreciation and amortization shown separately below)
Gross profit
Operating expenses:
Selling, general and administrative expenses
Depreciation and amortization
Total operating expenses
Operating income
Other (expense) income:
Interest expense
Change in fair value of financial instruments
Write-off of discount and deferred financing fees
Other income, net
Total other expense, net
Income before tax
Provision for income taxes
Net income
Non-GAAP measures:
Adjusted EBITDA(2)
Adjusted EBITDA margin(2)(3)

$ 2,335,883
1,588,691
747,192

$1,875,669
1,262,885
612,784

548,883
87,329
636,212
110,980

472,232
49,548
521,780
91,004

$
$

(54,896)
(23,288)
(6,395)
(710)
—
(74)
2,025
1,675
(59,266)
(22,397)
51,714
68,607
12,337
15,555
39,377 $ 53,052
222,134 $ 149,201
9.5 %
8.0 %

(1) The comparison of statement of operations data is affected by our acquisition of Titan on June 1, 2018. The
results of operations of Titan are included in our operating results beginning on the acquisition date.
(2) Adjusted EBITDA and Adjusted EBITDA margin are non-GAAP measures. See “—Non-GAAP Financial
Measures—Adjusted EBITDA,” for how we define and calculate Adjusted EBITDA and Adjusted EBITDA
margin, reconciliations thereof to net income and a description of why we believe these measures are important.
(3) Adjusted EBITDA margin is Adjusted EBITDA as a percentage of net sales.
Net Sales
Net sales of $2,335.9 million increased $460.2 million, or 24.5%, from $1,875.7 million for the nine months
ended January 31, 2018. The increase in net sales was due to the following:
·

Wallboard sales, which are impacted by both commercial and residential construction activity, increased
$120.2 million, or 14.5%, compared to the nine months ended January 31, 2018. The increase in wallboard
sales was driven by the impact of the acquisition of Titan on June 1, 2018 and pricing improvement, slightly
offset by organic wallboard unit volume decline of 0.5%.

·

Ceilings sales increased $47.7 million, or 16.4%, compared to the nine months ended January 31, 2018. The
increase in ceilings sales was mainly due to strong organic growth driven by greater commercial activity and
pricing improvement as well as the positive impact of acquisitions.
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·

Steel framing sales increased $77.7 million, or 25.5%, compared to the nine months ended January 31, 2018.
The increase in steel framing sales was mainly due to strong organic growth driven by greater commercial
activity and meaningful pricing improvement as well as the positive impact of acquisitions.

·

Other products sales increased $214.6 million, or 47.7%, compared to the nine months ended January 31,
2018. The increase was due to the impact of the acquisition of Titan and pricing improvement.

From February 2, 2017 through January 31, 2019, we completed three acquisitions, which included four
branches in the United States and 30 branches across Canada. These acquisitions contributed $339.6 million to our
net sales in the nine months ended January 31, 2019. Excluding these acquired sites, for the nine months ended
January 31, 2019 and 2018, our base business net sales increased $133.2 million, or 7.2%, compared to the
nine months ended January 31, 2018. The overall increase in our base business net sales reflects the increase in
demand for our products as a result of the improvement in new housing starts, R&R activity and commercial
construction.
The following table breaks out our consolidated net sales into the base business component and the
excluded components, which consist of recently acquired branches, as shown below:
Nine Months Ended
January 31,
2019
2018
(in thousands)

(Unaudited)

Base business net sales
Recently acquired net sales (excluded from base business)
Total net sales

$1,996,278
339,605
$2,335,883

$1,863,030
12,639
$1,875,669

When calculating our “base business” results, we exclude any branches that were acquired in the current
fiscal year, prior fiscal year and nine months prior to the start of the prior fiscal year. Therefore, any acquisition
occurring between February 2, 2017 and April 30, 2019 will be excluded from base business net sales for any period
during fiscal year 2019.
We have excluded the following acquisitions from the base business for the periods identified:

Acquisition

Branches
Acquisition Date Acquired

August 1, 2017

3

December 4,
2017
June 1, 2018

1

ASI Building Products, LLC (MI)
Southwest Building Materials, Ltd. (TX)
WSB Titan (CAN)

30

Periods Excluded

August 1, 2017 - January 31,
2019
December 4, 2017 - January
31, 2019
June 1, 2018 - January 31,
2019

(1) Our acquisition of CGH on August 7, 2018 has been treated as a new greenfield branch and is included in base
business net sales for purposes of calculating our base business results.
Gross Profit and Gross Margin
Gross profit of $747.2 million for the nine months ended January 31, 2019 increased $134.4 million, or 21.9%,
from the nine months ended January 31, 2018 as a result of higher sales including the positive impact of acquisitions
and pricing improvement. Gross margin on net sales decreased to 32.0% for the nine months ended January 31, 2019
compared to 32.7% for the nine months ended January 31, 2018. The decrease was primarily due to increased product
costs, changes in product mix and a $4.1 million, or 0.4%, non-cash cost of sales impact of purchase accounting
adjustments to increase inventory to its estimated fair value. As part of our accounting for business combinations,
we are required to value inventory acquired in the business combination at its net realizable value. The inventory
adjustment is typically fully recognized in cost of sales within the first month after completion of an acquisition. This
step-up in basis and related expense has a negative effect on gross margins as the related inventory is sold.
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Selling, General and Administrative Expenses
Selling, general and administrative expenses of $548.9 million for the nine months ended January 31, 2019
increased $76.7 million, or 16.2%, from the nine months ended January 31, 2018. The increase was due to the
acquisition of Titan, a $14.4 million increase in payroll and payroll related costs due to growth in our base business,
$6.6 million of transaction costs related to the acquisition of Titan and $5.2 million of restructuring costs related to the
reduction in workforce implemented during the nine months ended January 31, 2019. These increases were partially
offset by $16.8 million of expense savings from the amendment of certain equipment operating leases that are now
being accounted for as capital leases. Selling, general and administrative expenses was 23.5% of our net sales during
the nine months ended January 31, 2019, compared to 25.2% of our net sales during the nine months ended January
31, 2018. The decrease was driven by increased cost efficiencies, primarily the result of cost reduction initiatives
taken during the fiscal year, contributions from the Titan acquisition and our changes to lease accounting. These
improvements were partially offset by continuing inflation pressures, primarily in logistics.
Depreciation and Amortization Expense
Depreciation and amortization expense was $87.3 million for the nine months ended January 31, 2019
compared to $49.5 million for the nine months ended January 31, 2018. The increase was due to a $21.7 million
increase in amortization of definite-lived intangible assets and a $16.0 million increase in depreciation expense. The
increase in amortization expense compared to the prior year period was primarily attributable to expense resulting
from definite-lived intangible assets obtained in the acquisition of Titan. The increase in depreciation expense
compared to the prior year period was primarily attributable to expense resulting from property and equipment
obtained in the acquisition of Titan and $10.0 million of expense resulting from amendments of certain operating
leases for equipment that are now being accounted for as capital leases.
Interest Expense
Interest expense was $54.9 million during the nine months ended January 31, 2019 compared to $23.3 million
for the nine months ended January 31, 2018. The increase was primarily due to an increase in the outstanding amount
of debt related to the financing of the acquisition of Titan. The gross amount of outstanding debt increased $425.0
million during the nine months ended January 31, 2019 due to the Third Amendment to our first lien term loan facility
and increased $137.9 million during the nine months ended January 31, 2019 due to net borrowings under our ABL
facility. Also contributing to the increase was a $8.8 million increase in interest expense resulting from amendments of
certain operating leases for equipment that are now being accounted for as capital leases.
Change in Fair Value of Financial Instruments
Change in fair value of financial instruments includes changes in fair value of our derivative instruments that
are recognized in earnings. During the nine months ended January 31, 2019, we recognized a $5.7 million loss on the
change in fair value of a foreign currency forward contract. The foreign currency forward contract was entered into to
mitigate foreign currency exchange risk associated with the purchase price of Titan that was denominated in
Canadian dollars during the time between signing the agreement and closing the transaction. The foreign currency
forward contract effectively fixed the amount we paid for the purchase price by contracting us to pay U.S. dollars and
receive Canadian dollars on the notional amount. The remaining increase was due to changes in fair value of our
interest rate cap.
Income Taxes
We recognized income tax expense of $12.3 million during the nine months ended January 31, 2019 compared
to $15.6 million during the nine months ended January 31, 2018. Our effective tax rate was 23.9% and 22.7% for the
nine months ended January 31, 2019 and 2018, respectively. The increase in the effective income tax rate from the
nine months ended January 31, 2018 to the nine months ended January 31, 2019 was primarily due the impact of the
Tax Act, the impact of foreign tax rates and other tax effects associated with the acquisition of Titan.
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Net Income
Net income was $39.4 million for the nine months ended January 31, 2019 compared to $53.1 million for the
nine months ended January 31, 2018. The decrease in net income was due to an increase in depreciation and
amortization expense resulting from property and equipment and definite-lived intangible assets obtained in the
acquisition of Titan, an increase in interest expense resulting from the debt financing completed in connection with
the acquisition of Titan and the operating lease amendments, a loss on the change in fair value of a foreign currency
forward contract entered into to mitigate foreign currency exchange risk associated with the purchase price of Titan
and an increase in income taxes, partially offset by an increase in Adjusted EBITDA as discussed below.
Adjusted EBITDA
Adjusted EBITDA of $222.1 million for the nine months ended January 31, 2019 increased $72.9 million, or
48.9%, from our Adjusted EBITDA of $149.2 million for the nine months ended January 31, 2018. The increase in
Adjusted EBITDA was primarily due to the inclusion of Titan Adjusted EBITDA, changes to lease accounting,
increased cost efficiencies, primarily the result of cost reduction initiatives taken during the fiscal year, and increases
in our base business. See “—Non-GAAP Financial Measures—Adjusted EBITDA,” for how we define and calculate
Adjusted EBITDA, reconciliations thereof to net income and a description of why we believe these measures are
important.
Liquidity and Capital Resources
Summary
We depend on cash flow from operations, cash on hand and funds available under our Asset Based
Lending Credit Facility (“ABL Facility”) to finance working capital needs and capital expenditures and to fund share
repurchases. We believe that these sources of funds will be adequate to fund debt service requirements and provide
cash, as required, to support our growth strategies, ongoing operations, capital expenditures, lease obligations and
working capital for at least the next 12 months.
On June 1, 2018, we entered into the Third Amendment that provides for a new first lien term loan facility
under the credit agreement in the aggregate principal amount of approximately $996.8 million due in June 2025 that
bears interest at a floating rate based on LIBOR plus 2.75%, representing a 25 basis point improvement compared to
the interest rate of the existing first lien term loan facility under the credit agreement immediately prior to giving effect
to the Third Amendment. We also drew down $143.0 million under our ABL Facility. The net proceeds from the new
first lien term loan facility, ABL Facility and cash on hand were used to repay our existing first lien term loan facility
of $571.8 million and to finance the Titan acquisition.
As of January 31, 2019, we had available borrowing capacity of approximately $197.3 million under our
$345.0 million ABL Facility. The ABL Facility will mature on November 18, 2021 unless the individual affected lenders
agree to extend the maturity of their respective loans under the ABL Facility upon the Company’s request and
without the consent of any other lender.
In connection with the acquisition of Titan on June 1, 2018, we assumed Titan’s revolving credit facility (the
“Titan Facility”) that provides for aggregate revolving commitments of $22.5 million ($30.0 million Canadian dollars),
as amended. The Titan Facility bears interest at the Canadian prime rate plus a marginal rate based on the level
determined by Titan’s total debt to EBITDA ratio at the end of the most recently completed fiscal quarter or year. As
of January 31, 2019, no amounts were outstanding under the Titan Facility and we had available borrowing capacity
of approximately $22.5 million under the Titan Facility. The Titan Facility matures on June 28, 2022.
For more information regarding our ABL Facility and other indebtedness, see Note 5 of the Notes to
Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements included in this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q and Note 7 of the
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements included in our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended
April 30, 2018.
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As previously discussed, in November 2018, our Board of Directors authorized a common stock repurchase
program to repurchase up to $75.0 million of our outstanding common stock. The share repurchase program does not
obligate us to acquire any particular amount of common stock, and it may be suspended or terminated at any time at
our discretion. The timing and amount of any purchases of our common stock will be subject to a variety of factors,
including, but not limited to, our liquidity, credit availability, general business and market conditions, our debt
covenant restrictions and the availability of alternative investment opportunities. As of January 31, 2019, the
Company had $63.5 million available under its repurchase program.
Cash Flows
A summary of our operating, investing and financing activities is shown in the following table:
Nine Months Ended
January 31,
2019
2018
(in thousands)

Cash provided by operating activities
Cash used in investing activities
Cash provided by (used in) financing activities
Effect of exchange rates on cash and cash equivalents
Increase in cash and cash equivalents

$ 105,437 $ 66,380
(592,206)
(34,602)
524,686
(17,400)
(7)
—
$ 37,910 $ 14,378

Operating Activities
Net cash provided by operating activities consists primarily of net income adjusted for non-cash items,
including depreciation and amortization, equity-based compensation, deferred taxes and the effects of changes in
operating assets and liabilities, which were primarily the changes in working capital discussed below.
Net cash provided by operating activities was $105.4 million for the nine months ended January 31, 2019.
This cash provided was primarily driven by net income of $39.4 million, non-cash adjustments of $105.8 million,
including depreciation and amortization of $87.3 million, and $39.8 million of cash used in changes to our net working
capital.
Net cash provided by operating activities was $66.4 million for the nine months ended January 31, 2018. This
cash provided was primarily driven by net income of $53.1 million and non-cash adjustments of $56.8 million,
including depreciation and amortization of $49.5 million, and $43.5 million of cash used in changes to our net working
capital.
Investing Activities
Net cash used in investing activities consists primarily of acquisitions, investments in our facilities
including purchases of land, buildings and leasehold improvements and purchases of fleet assets, IT and other
equipment. We present this figure net of proceeds from asset sales which typically relate to sales of our fleet assets
and closed facilities.
Net cash used in investing activities was $592.2 million for the nine months ended January 31, 2019, which
consisted of $579.7 million used to acquire businesses during the period and $13.4 million used for purchases of
property and equipment, partially offset by $0.9 million in proceeds from the sale of assets.
Net cash used in investing activities was $34.6 million for the nine months ended January 31, 2018, which
consisted of $23.6 million used to acquire businesses during the period and $13.4 million used for purchases of
property and equipment, partially offset by $2.4 million in proceeds from the sale of assets.
Capital expenditures vary depending on prevailing business factors, including current and anticipated
market conditions. Historically, capital expenditures have remained at relatively low levels in comparison to the
operating cash flows generated during the corresponding periods.
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Financing Activities
Cash provided by, or used in, financing activities consists primarily of borrowings and related repayments
under our credit agreements, as well as repayments of capital lease obligations and proceeds from the sales of equity.
Net cash provided by financing activities was $524.7 million for the nine months ended January 31, 2019,
consisting primarily of an increase on the First Lien Facility of $425.0 million and net borrowings for the ABL Facility
of $137.9 million, offset by $21.4 million of principal payments on long-term debt and capital leases, $11.5 million used
to repurchase 0.7 million shares of common stock and $7.9 million of debt issuance costs paid in connection with the
Third Amendment.
Net cash used in financing activities was $17.4 million for the nine months ended January 31, 2018,
consisting primarily of net repayments on the ABL Facility of $103.4 million, $8.9 million of principal payments on
long-term debt and capital leases and $3.3 million of debt issuance costs, partially offset by an increase on the First
Lien Facility of $100.0 million.
Working Capital and Adjusted Working Capital
A summary of working capital and adjusted working capital as of January 31, 2019 and April 30, 2018 is
shown in the following table:
January 31,
April 30,
2019
2018
(in thousands)

Trade accounts and notes receivable, net of allowances
Inventories, net
Accounts payable

$

410,017 $ 346,450
308,115
239,223
(129,580)
(116,168)
588,552
469,505
86,957
48,163
(153,270)
(117,753)
522,239
399,915
(74,347)
(36,437)
40,328
16,284
$ 488,220 $ 379,762

Other current assets
Other current liabilities
Working capital
Cash and cash equivalents
Current maturities of long-term debt
Adjusted working capital

Working capital increased as a result of an increase in trade accounts and notes receivable of $63.6 million,
an increase of inventories, net of $68.9 million and an increase in other current assets of $38.8 million, partially offset
by an increase in accounts payable of $13.4 million and an increase in other current liabilities of $35.5 million. The
increases were primarily due to the acquisition of Titan.
Adjusted working capital is an important measurement that we use in determining the efficiencies of our
operations and our ability to readily convert assets into cash. Adjusted working capital represents current assets,
excluding cash and cash equivalents, minus current liabilities, excluding current maturities of long-term debt. The
material components of adjusted working capital for us include accounts receivable, inventory and accounts payable.
Management of our adjusted working capital helps to ensure we can maximize our return and continue to invest in
our operations for future growth. Comparing our adjusted working capital to that of other companies in our industry
may be difficult, as other companies may calculate adjusted working capital differently than we do. Adjusted working
capital is a non-GAAP measure. See “—Non-GAAP Financial Measures—Adjusted Working Capital,” for how we
define and calculate Adjusted Working Capital, a reconciliation thereof to working capital and a description of why
we believe this measure is important.
Our adjusted working capital increased by $108.5 million from April 30, 2018 to January 31, 2019 as a result of
an increase in working capital of $122.3 million and an increase of $24.0 million in current maturities of long term debt,
offset partially by an increase in cash and cash equivalents of $37.9 million.
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Debt Covenants
The First Lien Facility contains a number of covenants that limit our ability and the ability of our restricted
subsidiaries, as described in the First Lien Credit Agreement, to: incur more indebtedness; pay dividends, redeem
stock or make other distributions; make investments; create restrictions on the ability of our restricted subsidiaries to
pay dividends to us or make other intercompany transfers; create liens securing indebtedness; transfer or sell assets;
merge or consolidate; enter into certain transactions with our affiliates; and prepay or amend the terms of certain
indebtedness. We were in compliance with all restrictive covenants as of January 31, 2019.
The ABL Facility contains certain affirmative covenants, including financial and other reporting
requirements. We were in compliance with all such covenants as of January 31, 2019.
Contractual Obligations
Except as noted below, there have been no material changes to the contractual obligations as disclosed in
our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended April 30, 2018, other than those made in the ordinary
course of business.
During the nine months ended January 31, 2019, we entered into the Third Amendment that provides for a
new first lien term loan facility under the credit agreement in the aggregate principal amount of approximately
$996.8 million due in June 2025 that bears interest at a floating rate based on LIBOR plus 2.75%, representing a 25
basis point improvement compared to the interest rate of the existing first lien term loan facility under the credit
agreement immediately prior to giving effect to the Third Amendment. Net proceeds from the new first lien term loan
facility were used to repay our existing first lien term loan facility of $571.8 million, resulting in a $425.0 million
increase in the aggregate principal amount of our first lien term loan facility. Also during the nine months ended
January 31, 2019, we made net borrowings under our ABL facility of $137.9 million.
During the nine months ended January 31, 2019, the Company amended certain of its operating lease
agreements for equipment. The amendments resulted in the Company classifying these operating leases as capital
leases upon the date of the modification. As a result, the Company recorded $73.6 million of capital lease assets and
capital lease liabilities during the nine months ended January 31, 2019. The equipment leases have terms through
fiscal 2023.
In connection with the acquisition of Titan, as of June 1, 2018, we assumed operating lease commitments
approximating $5.5 million, $4.8 million, $3.1 million, $3.0 million, $2.6 million and $6.0 million for the fiscal years ending
April 30, 2019, 2020, 2021, 2022, 2023 and thereafter, respectively. We also assumed certain contingent consideration
arrangements that relate to previous acquisitions of Titan. The contingent consideration arrangements are based on
performance of Titan’s business and are payable in cash in fiscal 2019 and fiscal 2020. As of January 31, 2019, the fair
value of the contingent consideration arrangements was $12.4 million, of which $1.1 million is payable in the
fiscal year ending April 30, 2019 and $11.3 million is payable in the fiscal year ending April 30, 2020.
Off Balance Sheet Arrangements
There have been no material changes to our off-balance sheet arrangements as discussed in our Annual
Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended April 30, 2018.
Critical Accounting Policies and Estimates
There have been no material changes to our critical accounting policies and estimates discussed in our
Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended April 30, 2018.
Recent Accounting Pronouncements
See Note 1 of the Notes to Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements included in this Quarterly Report
on Form 10-Q for information regarding recently adopted accounting pronouncements.
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Non-GAAP Financial Measures
Adjusted EBITDA
Adjusted EBITDA and Adjusted EBITDA margin are non-GAAP measures. We report our financial results
in accordance with GAAP. However, we present Adjusted EBITDA and Adjusted EBITDA margin, which are not
recognized financial measures under GAAP, because we believe they assist investors and analysts in comparing our
operating performance across reporting periods on a consistent basis by excluding items that we do not believe are
indicative of our core operating performance. Management believes Adjusted EBITDA and Adjusted EBITDA
margin are helpful in highlighting trends in our operating results, while other measures can differ significantly
depending on long-term strategic decisions regarding capital structure, the tax jurisdictions in which companies
operate and capital investments.
In addition, we utilize Adjusted EBITDA in certain calculations under the ABL Facility and the First Lien
Facility. The ABL Facility and the First Lien Facility permit us to make certain additional adjustments in calculating
Consolidated EBITDA, such as projected net cost savings, which are not reflected in the Adjusted EBITDA data
presented in this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q. We may in the future reflect such permitted adjustments in our
calculations of Adjusted EBITDA.
We believe that Adjusted EBITDA and Adjusted EBITDA margin are frequently used by analysts,
investors and other interested parties in their evaluation of companies, many of which present an Adjusted EBITDA
or Adjusted EBITDA margin measure when reporting their results. Our presentation of Adjusted EBITDA should not
be construed as an inference that our future results will be unaffected by unusual or non-recurring items. In addition,
Adjusted EBITDA may not be comparable to similarly titled measures used by other companies in our industry or
across different industries.
We also include information concerning Adjusted EBITDA margin, which is calculated as Adjusted
EBITDA divided by net sales. We present Adjusted EBITDA margin because it is used by management as a
performance measure to judge the level of Adjusted EBITDA that is generated from net sales.
Adjusted EBITDA and Adjusted EBITDA margin have their limitations as analytical tools and should not be
considered in isolation, or as a substitute for analysis of our results as reported under GAAP.
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The following is a reconciliation of our net income to Adjusted EBITDA for the three and nine months
ended January 31, 2019 and 2018:
Three Months
Ended
Nine Months Ended
January 31,
January 31,
2019
2018
2019
2018
(in thousands)

Net income
Interest expense
Write-off of debt discount and deferred financing fees
Interest income
Provision (benefit) for income taxes
Depreciation expense
Amortization expense
Stock appreciation expense(a)
Redeemable noncontrolling interests(b)
Equity-based compensation(c)
Severance and other permitted costs(d)
Transaction costs (acquisitions and other)(e)
Gain on sale of assets
Effects of fair value adjustments to inventory(f)
Change in fair value of financial instruments(g)
Secondary public offering costs(h)
Debt transaction costs(i)
Adjusted EBITDA

$ 5,815 $19,686 $ 39,377 $
19,526
7,871
54,896
—
—
—
(10)
(44)
(43)
1,442
(4,488) 12,337
11,919
6,009
34,067
18,301
10,481
53,262
442
631
1,425
(35)
340
778
1,140
430
2,638
229
8
5,947
1,066
75
6,660
(118)
(51)
(412)
—
89
4,129
—
276
6,395
—
894
—
—
—
678
$59,717 $42,207 $222,134 $

53,052
23,288
74
(93)
15,555
18,021
31,527
1,863
1,370
1,277
325
321
(648)
276
710
1,525
758
149,201

(a) Represents non-cash expense related to stock appreciation rights agreements.
(b) Represents non-cash compensation expense related to changes in the redemption values of noncontrolling
interests.
(c) Represents non-cash equity-based compensation expense related to the issuance of share-based awards.
(d) Represents severance expenses and other costs permitted in calculations under the ABL Facility and the First
Lien Facility.
(e) Represents one-time costs related to acquisitions paid to third parties.
(f) Represents the non-cash cost of sales impact of purchase accounting adjustments to increase inventory to its
estimated fair value.
(g) Represents the mark-to-market adjustments for derivative financial instruments.
(h) Represents one-time costs related to our secondary offering paid to third-party advisors.
(i)

Represents costs paid to third-party advisors related to debt refinancing activities.

Adjusted Working Capital
Adjusted working capital represents current assets, excluding cash and cash equivalents, minus current
liabilities, excluding current maturities of long-term debt. Adjusted working capital is not a recognized term under
GAAP and does not purport to be an alternative to working capital. Management believes that adjusted working
capital is useful in analyzing the cash flow and working capital needs of the Company. We exclude cash and cash
equivalents and current maturities of long-term debt to evaluate the investment in working capital required to support
our business.
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The following is a reconciliation from working capital, the most directly comparable financial measure under
GAAP, to adjusted working capital as of the dates presented:
January 31,
April 30,
2019
2018
(in thousands)

Current assets
Current liabilities
Working capital
Cash and cash equivalents
Current maturities of long-term debt
Adjusted working capital

$

$

805,089 $ 633,836
282,850
233,921
522,239
399,915
(74,347)
(36,437)
40,328
16,284
488,220 $ 379,762

Item 3. Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures About Market Risk
Other than noted below, there have been no material changes to our exposure to market risks from those
reported in our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended April 30, 2018.
Interest Rate Risk
We are exposed to interest rate risk through fluctuations in interest rates on our debt obligations. A
significant portion of our outstanding debt bears interest at variable rates. As a result, increases in interest rates
could increase the cost of servicing our debt and could materially reduce our profitability and cash flows. Each 1%
increase in interest rates on the First Lien Facility would increase our annual interest expense by approximately
$9.9 million based on balances outstanding under the First Lien Facility as of January 31, 2019. Assuming the ABL
Facility was fully drawn, each 1% increase in interest rates would result in a $3.5 million increase in our annual
interest expense on the ABL Facility. As of January 31, 2019, $991.9 million aggregate principal amount was
outstanding under the First Lien Facility and $137.9 million was outstanding under the ABL Facility.
We seek to manage exposure to adverse interest rate changes through our normal operating and financing
activities, as well as through hedging activities, such as entering into interest rate derivative agreements. We had an
interest rate cap on the three-month U.S. dollar LIBOR based on a strike rate of 2.0%, which effectively capped the
interest rate at 5.0% on an initial notional amount of $275.0 million of our variable rate debt obligation under the First
Lien Facility, or any replacement facility with similar terms. This interest rate cap expired on October 31, 2018. In
February 2019, we entered into an interest rate swap agreement with a notional amount of $500.0 million to convert
the variable interest rate on our First Lien Facility to a fixed 1-month LIBOR interest rate of 2.46%. This contract was
effective on February 28, 2019 and terminates on February 28, 2023.
Foreign Currency Risk
On June 1, 2018, we acquired Titan pursuant to a securities purchase agreement entered into on April 4,
2018. Titan is a distributer of drywall, lumber, commercial and residential building materials with 30 locations across
five provinces in Canada. As of April 30, 2018, we were exposed to foreign currency exchange risk associated with
the purchase price that was denominated in Canadian dollars. To mitigate this foreign currency exchange risk, we
entered into a foreign currency forward contract. The foreign currency forward contract effectively fixed the amount
we paid for the purchase price by contracting the Company to pay U.S. dollars and receive Canadian dollars on the
notional amount. The foreign currency forward contract did not qualify for hedge accounting. The foreign currency
forward contract was settled on June 1, 2018. We recognized an additional $5.7 million loss on the change in fair value
of the foreign currency forward contract during the nine months ended January 31, 2019.
We have exposure to foreign currency exchange rate fluctuations for our operations in Canada, which can
adversely impact our net income and cash flows. Approximately 13% of our net sales during the nine months ended
January 31, 2019 were derived from sales to customers in Canada. These operations are primarily conducted in the
local currency. This exposes us to risks associated with changes in foreign currency that can adversely affect net
sales, net
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income and cash flows. We currently do not enter into financial instruments to manage this foreign currency
exchange risk.
Item 4. Controls and Procedures
Evaluation of Disclosure Controls and Procedures
As of January 31, 2019, our management, with the participation of our principal executive officer and
principal financial officer, evaluated the effectiveness of our disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in
Rule 13a-15(e) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended (the “Exchange Act”)), which are designed to
provide reasonable assurance that the information required to be disclosed in the reports that we file or submit under
the Exchange Act is recorded, processed, summarized and reported within the time periods specified in the Securities
and Exchange Commission’s rules and forms. Disclosure controls and procedures include controls and procedures
that are designed to provide reasonable assurance that information required to be disclosed in the reports that we file
or submit under the Exchange Act is accumulated and communicated to management, including our principal
executive officer and principal financial officer, as appropriate, to allow timely decisions regarding required
disclosure.
Based upon that evaluation, our Chief Executive Officer and Interim Chief Financial Officer concluded that
our disclosure controls and procedures are effective to ensure that information required to be disclosed in the reports
that are filed or submitted under the Exchange Act, is recorded, processed, summarized and reported, within the time
periods specified in the Securities and Exchange Commission’s rules and forms, and that such information is
accumulated and communicated to management, including our Chief Executive Officer and Interim Chief Financial
Officer, as appropriate, to allow timely decisions regarding required disclosure.
Changes in Internal Control Over Financial Reporting
There were no changes in our internal control over financial reporting during the three months ended
January 31, 2019 that have materially affected, or are reasonably likely to materially affect, our internal control over
financial reporting except that on June 1, 2018 the Company acquired WSB Titan (“Titan”). As a result, the Company
is currently integrating Titan’s operations into its overall system of internal control over financial reporting. Under
the guidelines established by the Securities and Exchange Commission, companies are permitted to exclude
acquisitions from their assessment of internal control over financial reporting during the first year of acquisition.
Accordingly, we expect to exclude Titan from the assessment of internal control over financial reporting for fiscal
2019.
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PART II – Other Information
Item 1. Legal Proceedings
From time to time, we are involved in lawsuits that are brought against us in the normal course of business.
We are not currently a party to any legal proceedings that would be expected, either individually or in the aggregate,
to have a material adverse effect on our business or financial condition.
The building materials industry has been subject to personal injury and property damage claims arising from
alleged exposure to raw materials contained in building products as well as claims for incidents of catastrophic loss,
such as building fires. As a distributor of building materials, we face an inherent risk of exposure to product liability
claims in the event that the use of the products we have distributed in the past or may in the future distribute is
alleged to have resulted in economic loss, personal injury or property damage or violated environmental, health or
safety or other laws. Such product liability claims have included and may in the future include allegations of defects
in manufacturing, defects in design, a failure to warn of dangers inherent in the product, negligence, strict liability or
a breach of warranties. In particular, certain of our subsidiaries have been the subject of claims related to alleged
exposure to asbestos-containing products they distributed prior to 1979. Since 2002 and as of January 31, 2019,
approximately 988 asbestos-related personal injury lawsuits have been filed and we vigorously defend against them.
Of these, 949 have been dismissed without any payment by us, 29 are pending and only 10 have been settled, which
settlements have not materially impacted our financial condition or operating results. See “Risk Factors—Risks
Relating to Our Business and Industry—We are exposed to product liability, warranty, casualty, construction defect,
contract, tort, employment and other claims and legal proceedings related to our business, the products we distribute,
the services we provide and services provided for us by third parties” listed in Part 1, Item 1A of our Annual Report
on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended April 30, 2018.
Item 1A. Risk Factors
There have been no material changes in the risks facing the Company as described in the Company’s
Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended April 30, 2018.
Item 2. Unregistered Sales of Equity Securities and Use of Proceeds
The number of shares repurchased and the average price paid per share for each month in the three months
ended January 31, 2019 are as follows:
Total Number
Maximum
of
Dollar
Total
Shares
Value that
Number
Average
Repurchased
May
Price
as Part of
Yet be
of Shares
Paid
Publicly
Purchased
Per
Announced
Under the
Repurchased
Share
Program (1)
Program
(in thousands, except average price paid per share)

November 1 through November 30
December 1 through December 31
January 1 through January 31
Total

—
608
83
691

$

—
16.46
18.19

— $
608
83
691

75,000
64,988
63,486

(1) On November 30, 2018, our Board of Directors authorized a common stock repurchase program to repurchase up
to $75.0 million of our outstanding common stock. We may conduct repurchases under the share repurchase
program through open market transactions, under trading plans in accordance with Rule 10b5-1 and/or in
privately negotiated transactions, in compliance with Rule 10b-18 under the Exchange Act of 1934, as amended,
subject to a variety of factors, including, but not limited to, our liquidity, credit availability, general business and
market conditions, our debt covenant restrictions and the availability of alternative investment
opportunities. The share repurchase program does not obligate us to acquire any particular amount of common
stock, and it may be suspended or terminated at any time at our discretion.
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Item 3. Defaults Upon Senior Securities
None.
Item 4. Mine Safety Disclosures
Not Applicable.
Item 5. Other Information
None.
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Item 6. Exhibits
(a) Exhibits. The following exhibits are filed as part of this report:
Exhibit No.

Exhibit Description

3.1 Second Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporation of the Company (incorporated by reference
to Exhibit 3.1 to Amendment No. 5 to the Registrant’s Registration Statement on Form S-1 filed on
May 16, 2016 (File No. 333-205902)).
3.2 Amended and Restated Bylaws of the Company (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 3.2 to
Amendment No. 5 to the Registrant’s Registration Statement on Form S-1 filed on May 16, 2016 (File
No. 333-205902)).
4.1 Specimen Common Stock Certificate of the Company (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.1 to
Amendment No. 5 to the Registrant’s Registration Statement on Form S-1 filed on May 16, 2016 (File
No. 333-205902)).
31.1* Certification of Chief Executive Officer pursuant to Rule 13a-14(a) or Rule 15d-14(a) promulgated under
the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended.
31.2* Certification of Chief Financial Officer pursuant to Rule 13a-14(a) or Rule 15d-14(a) promulgated under
the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended.
32.1* Certification of Chief Executive Officer pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted pursuant to
Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.
32.2* Certification of Chief Financial Officer pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted pursuant to
Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.
101 INS* XBRL Instance Document.
101 SCH* XBRL Taxonomy Extension Schema Document.
101 CAL* XBRL Taxonomy Extension Calculation Linkbase Document.
101 DEF* XBRL Taxonomy Extension Definition Linkbase Document.
101 LAB* XBRL Taxonomy Extension Label Linkbase Document.
101 PRE* XBRL Taxonomy Extension Presentation Linkbase Document.
*

Filed herewith.
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SIGNATURES
Pursuant to the requirements of Section 13 or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the registrant has
duly caused this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q to be signed on its behalf by the undersigned, thereunto duly
authorized.
GMS INC.
Date: March 5, 2019

By: /s/ Lynn Ross
Lynn Ross
Interim Chief Financial Officer
(Principal Financial Officer)
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Section 2: EX-31.1 (EX-31.1)
Exhibit 31.1
CERTIFICATION OF THE PRINCIPAL EXECUTIVE OFFICER
PURSUANT TO SECTION 302 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002
I, G. Michael Callahan, Jr., certify that:
1.

I have reviewed this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended January 31, 2019 of GMS
Inc.;

2.

Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit
to state a material fact necessary to make the statements made, in light of the circumstances under
which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this report;

3.

Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this
report, fairly present in all material respects the financial condition, results of operations and cash
flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;

4.

The registrant's other certifying officer and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining
disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and
internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15
(f)) for the registrant and have:
(a) Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and

procedures to be designed under our supervision, to ensure that material information relating
to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within
those entities, particularly during the period in which this report is being prepared;
(b) Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over

financial reporting to be designed under our supervision, to provide reasonable assurance
regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for
external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles;
(c) Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant's disclosure controls and procedures and

presented in this report our conclusions about the effectiveness of the disclosure controls and
procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation; and
(a) Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant's internal control over financial reporting

that occurred during the registrant's most recent fiscal quarter (the registrant's fourth fiscal
quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to
materially affect, the registrant's internal control over financial reporting; and
5.

The registrant's other certifying officer and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation
of internal control over financial reporting, to the registrant's auditors and the audit committee of
the registrant's board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent functions):
(a) All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal

control over financial reporting which are reasonably likely to adversely affect the registrant's
ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and
(b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a

significant role in the registrant's internal control over financial reporting.

Date:

March 5, 2019

/s/ G. Michael Callahan, Jr.
G. Michael Callahan, Jr.
Chief Executive Officer, President and Director
(Principal Executive Officer)
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Section 3: EX-31.2 (EX-31.2)
Exhibit 31.2
CERTIFICATION OF THE PRINCIPAL FINANCIAL OFFICER
PURSUANT TO SECTION 302 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002
I, Lynn Ross, certify that:
1.

I have reviewed this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended January 31, 2019 of GMS
Inc.;

2.

Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit
to state a material fact necessary to make the statements made, in light of the circumstances under
which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this report;

3.

Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this
report, fairly present in all material respects the financial condition, results of operations and cash
flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;

4.

The registrant's other certifying officer and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining
disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and
internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15
(f)) for the registrant and have:
(a) Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and

procedures to be designed under our supervision, to ensure that material information relating
to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within
those entities, particularly during the period in which this report is being prepared;
(b) Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over

financial reporting to be designed under our supervision, to provide reasonable assurance
regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for
external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles;
(c) Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant's disclosure controls and procedures and

presented in this report our conclusions about the effectiveness of the disclosure controls and
procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation; and
(d) Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant's internal control over financial reporting

that occurred during the registrant's most recent fiscal quarter (the registrant's fourth fiscal
quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to
materially affect, the registrant's internal control over financial reporting; and
5.

The registrant's other certifying officer and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation
of internal control over financial reporting, to the registrant's auditors and the audit committee of
the registrant's board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent functions):
(a) All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal

control over financial reporting which are reasonably likely to adversely affect the registrant's
ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and
(b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a

significant role in the registrant's internal control over financial reporting.

Date:

March 5, 2019

/s/ Lynn Ross
Lynn Ross
Interim Chief Financial Officer
(Principal Financial Officer)
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Section 4: EX-32.1 (EX-32.1)
Exhibit 32.1
CERTIFICATION OF THE PRINCIPAL EXECUTIVE OFFICER
PURSUANT TO 18 U.S.C. SECTION 1350, AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO
SECTION 906 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002
In connection with the Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q of GMS Inc., a Delaware corporation (the
"Company"), for the quarter ended January 31, 2019, as filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on the
date hereof (the "Report"), G. Michael Callahan, Jr., Chief Executive Officer, President and Director of the
Company, hereby certifies, pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the
Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, that, to his knowledge:
(1) The Report fully complies with the requirements of Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange

Act of 1934, as amended; and
(2) The information contained in the Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial

condition and results of operations of the Company.

Date: March 5, 2019

/s/ G. Michael Callahan, Jr.
G. Michael Callahan, Jr.
Chief Executive Officer, President and Director
(Principal Executive Officer)
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Section 5: EX-32.2 (EX-32.2)
Exhibit 32.2
CERTIFICATION OF THE PRINCIPAL FINANCIAL OFFICER
PURSUANT TO 18 U.S.C. SECTION 1350, AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO
SECTION 906 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002
In connection with the Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q of GMS Inc., a Delaware corporation (the
"Company"), for the quarter ended January 31, 2019, as filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on the
date hereof (the "Report"), Lynn Ross, Chief Financial Officer of the Company, hereby certifies, pursuant to 18
U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, that, to his
knowledge:
(1) The Report fully complies with the requirements of Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange

Act of 1934, as amended; and

(2) The information contained in the Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial

condition and results of operations of the Company.

Date: March 5, 2019
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/s/ Lynn Ross
Lynn Ross
Interim Chief Financial Officer
(Principal Financial Officer)

